World Journal of *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 September 16; 15(9): 545-583





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

WJ

GEWorld Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscorr

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 9 September 16, 2023

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

545 Human immunodeficiency virus patients with low CD4 counts are more likely to have precancerous polyps identified during index colonoscopy

Likhtshteyn M, Marzouk E, Arroyo-Mercado FM, Chawla G, Rosengarten S, Lerer R, Ojeda-Martinez H, Thor S

Observational Study

553 Graft dilatation and Barrett's esophagus in adults after gastric pull-up and jejunal interposition for longgap esophageal atresia

van Tuyll van Serooskerken ES, Gallo G, Weusten BL, Westerhof J, Brosens LA, Zwaveling S, Ruiterkamp J, Hulscher JB, Arets HG, Bittermann AJ, van der Zee DC, Tytgat SH, Lindeboom MY

Prospective Study

564 Endoscopic Ruler for varix size measurement: A multicenter pilot study

> Huang YF, Hu SJ, Bu Y, Li YL, Deng YH, Hu JP, Yang SQ, Shen Q, McAlindon M, Shi RC, Li XQ, Song TY, Qi HL, Jiao TW, Liu MY, He F, Zhu J, Ma B, Yu XB, Guo JY, Yu YH, Yong HJ, Yao WT, Ye T, Wang H, Dong WF, Liu JG, Wei Q, Tian J, Li XG, Dray X, Qi XL

META-ANALYSIS

574 Comparison of trans-gastric vs trans-enteric (trans-duodenal or trans-jejunal) endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage using lumen apposing metal stents

Grover D, Fatima I, Dharan M



World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy

Contents

Monthly Volume 15 Number 9 September 16, 2023

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy, Jin-Ping Lai, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Kaiser Permanente Sacramento medical Center, Sacramento, CA 95825, United States. jinping.x.lai@kp.org

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (WJGE, World J Gastrointest Endosc) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of gastrointestinal endoscopy with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJGE mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of gastrointestinal endoscopy and covering a wide range of topics including capsule endoscopy, colonoscopy, double-balloon enteroscopy, duodenoscopy, endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography, endosonography, esophagoscopy, gastrointestinal endoscopy, gastroscopy, laparoscopy, natural orifice endoscopic surgery, proctoscopy, and sigmoidoscopy.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJGE is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Reference Citation Analysis, China National Knowledge Infrastructure, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 Edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJGE as 2.0; IF without journal self cites: 1.9; 5-year IF: 3.3; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.28.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yi-Xuan Cai; Production Department Director: Xu Guo; Editorial Office Director: Jia-Ping Yan.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1948-5190 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
October 15, 2009	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Anastasios Koulaouzidis, Bing Hu, Sang Chul Lee, Joo Young Cho	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
September 16, 2023	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2023 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



F WU

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 September 16; 15(9): 545-552

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.545

Retrospective Study

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Human immunodeficiency virus patients with low CD4 counts are more likely to have precancerous polyps identified during index colonoscopy

Michelle Likhtshteyn, Evan Marzouk, Fray M Arroyo-Mercado, Gurasees Chawla, Sabrina Rosengarten, Renata Lerer, Hector Ojeda-Martinez, Savanna Thor

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Bustamante-Lopez LA, Brazil; Lin L, China

Received: March 22, 2023 Peer-review started: March 22, 2023 First decision: April 28, 2023 Revised: May 16, 2023 Accepted: August 21, 2023 Article in press: August 21, 2023 Published online: September 16, 2023

Michelle Likhtshteyn, Gurasees Chawla, Savanna Thor, Department of Gastroenterology, SUNY Downstate Health Sciences University, Brooklyn, NY 11203, United States

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal*

Endoscopy

Evan Marzouk, Department of Internal Medicine and Pediatrics, Baystate Medical Center, Springfield, IL 01199, United States

Fray M Arroyo-Mercado, Department of Gastroenterology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM 87106, United States

Sabrina Rosengarten, Department of Emergency Medicine, New York-Presbyterian Queens Hospital, Queens, NY 11355, United States

Renata Lerer, Department of Gastroenterology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA 19104, United States

Hector Ojeda-Martinez, Department of Infectious Disease, Nuvance Health-Vassar Brothers Medical Center, Poughkeepsie, NY 12601, United States

Corresponding author: Michelle Likhtshteyn, MD, Academic Fellow, Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology, SUNY Downstate Health Sciences University, 450 Clarkson Ave, Brooklyn, NY 11203, United States. mlikhtsh@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Antiretroviral treatment (ART) has improved the life expectancy of patients living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). As these patients age, they are at increased risk for developing non-acquired immunodeficiency syndrome defining malignancies (NADMs) such as colon cancers.

AIM

To determine which factors are associated with the development of precancerous polyps on screening colonoscopy in patients with HIV and to investigate whether HIV disease status, measured by viral load and CD4 count, might influence precancerous polyp development.

METHODS

A retrospective review of records at two urban academic medical centers was performed for HIV patients who had a screening colonoscopy between 2005-2015. Patients with a history of colorectal cancer or polyps, poor bowel preparation, or inflammatory bowel disease were excluded. Demographic data such as sex, age, race, and body mass index (BMI) as well as information regarding the HIV disease status such as CD4 count, viral load, and medication regimen were collected. Well-controlled patients were defined as those that had viral load < 50 copies, and poorly-controlled patients were those with viral load \geq 50. Patients were also stratified based on their CD4 count, comparing those with a low CD4 count to those with a high CD4 count. Using colonoscopy reports in the medical record, the size, histology, and number of polyps were recorded for each patient. Precancerous polyps included adenomas and proximal serrated polyps. Data was analyzed using Fisher's exact tests and logistic regression through SAS 3.8 software.

RESULTS

Two hundred and seven patients met our inclusion criteria. The mean age was 56.13 years, and 58% were males. There were no significant differences in terms of age, race or ethnicity, insurance, and smoking status between patients with CD4 counts above or below 500. BMI was lower in patients with CD4 count < 500 as compared to those with count > 500 (P = 0.0276). In patients with CD4 > 500, 53.85% of patients were female, and 70.87% of patients with CD4 < 500 were male (P = 0.0004). Only 1.92% of patients with CD4 \ge 500 had precancerous polyps vs 10.68% of patients with CD4 < 500 (P = 0.0102). When controlled for sex, BMI, and ART use, patients with CD4 < 500 were 9.01 times more likely to have precancerous polyps [95% confidence interval (CI): 1.69-47.97; P = 0.0100]. Patients taking non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors were also found to be 10.23 times more likely to have precancerous polyps (95% CI: 1.08-97.15; P = 0.0428). There was not a significant difference noted in precancerous polyps between those that had viral loads greater or less than 50 copies.

CONCLUSION

Patients with low CD4 counts were more likely to have precancerous polyps on their screening colonoscopy although the etiology for this association is unclear. We also found an increased risk of precancerous polyps in patients taking non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors, which is contradictory to prior literature showing ART has decreased the risk of development of NADMs. However, there have not been studies looking at colorectal cancer and ART by drug class, to our knowledge. Further prospective studies are needed to determine the effect of HIV control and therapies on polyp development.

Key Words: Colonoscopy; Non-acquired immunodeficiency syndromes defining malignancies; Human immunodeficiency virus; Adenoma detection rate; Antiretroviral treatment; Advanced adenoma

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Aging human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) patients are at a higher risk for developing non-acquired immunodeficiency syndrome defining malignancies. We investigated the factors associated with the development of precancerous polyps on index colonoscopy and whether HIV disease state might influence precancerous polyps. We divided patients into two groups based on their viral load and CD4 count. We retrieved colonoscopy results, patient demographics, and relevant HIV data from the electronic medical record. We determined that patients with low CD4 counts were more likely to have precancerous polyps on their index colonoscopy. We found an increased risk of precancerous polyps in patients taking nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors.

Citation: Likhtshteyn M, Marzouk E, Arroyo-Mercado FM, Chawla G, Rosengarten S, Lerer R, Ojeda-Martinez H, Thor S. Human immunodeficiency virus patients with low CD4 counts are more likely to have precancerous polyps identified during index colonoscopy. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023; 15(9): 545-552 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i9/545.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.545

INTRODUCTION

Antiretroviral therapy has dramatically changed and improved the life expectancy of patients coping with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). With the introduction of antiretroviral treatment (ART) in 1996, the worldwide life expectancy of HIV-infected people has improved significantly. As the HIV disease state is being better controlled with ART, this patient population is at lower risk for developing acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) defining illnesses. However, as these patients live longer, they become vulnerable to developing non-AIDS defining malignancies (NADMs) such as colon cancers^[1]. In 1994, Klugman and Schaffner^[2] published a case report of a 25-year-old African

American man with HIV who was found to have an advanced right sided colonic adenocarcinoma postmortem. At that time, ART therapy had not yet been introduced or widely accepted, and it was thought that the most significant manifestation of HIV in the gastrointestinal tract was Kaposi's sarcoma[2]. However, even Krugman postulated that HIV might play a role in the development of colon cancer.

While some studies have shown that highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) decreases the risk of developing colorectal cancer[3], other studies propose that HIV patients are at higher risk and develop colorectal cancer at younger ages[4,5]. Conversely, other studies have shown that the rates of colorectal cancer are similar between people with and without HIV[6]. According to current guidelines, HIV infection does not change the age at which screening colonoscopies are performed. A consensus regarding HIV infection and colonic neoplasms has not been reached, possibly due to a paucity of data regarding these two diseases. We aimed to identify which factors are associated with the development of precancerous polyps on index (first) screening colonoscopy in patients with HIV and to investigate whether HIV disease status, measured by viral load and CD4 count, may influence precancerous polyp growth.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A retrospective review of medical records at Kings County Hospital and SUNY Downstate Health Sciences University for patients with HIV who had received a screening colonoscopy between 2005 and 2015 was performed. Patient demographics were collected, HIV disease status was documented, and information regarding the colonoscopy was collected. Important factors from the colonoscopy data included the types of polyps, if a polypectomy were performed, if a diagnosis of advanced adenoma was made, or if a diagnosis of adenocarcinoma was made.

Patients with a known history of malignancy, history of colon polyps, inflammatory bowel disease, active gastrointestinal infection, and poor bowel preparation were excluded, as were patients undergoing colonoscopy for surveillance or diagnostic purposes. Data collected for each patient included age, biological sex, ethnicity, age at colonoscopy, body mass index (BMI) at time of colonoscopy, alcohol history use, tobacco use, diabetes history, year of HIV diagnosis, duration in years of HIV diagnosis at time of colonoscopy, CD4 count nadir, CD4 count value closest to colonoscopy date, viral load value closest to colonoscopy date, and ART therapy regimen. Colonoscopy data was collected including the date of colonoscopy, colonoscopy type (screening/diagnostic), proceduralist, family history of polyps, history of polyps or colon cancer, biopsy information (if any), polyp type, polyp size, determination of adenoma, designation of advanced adenoma, diagnosis of adenocarcinoma or anal cancer, quality of preparation, withdrawal time greater than 6 min, and type of anesthesia. Advanced adenomas were categorized as adenomatous polyps being > 1 cm, having greater than 3 adenomas, and/or having a sessile serrated adenoma.

The baseline characteristics and prevalence of polyps in HIV disease groups (based on the viral load and/or CD4 count definitions) were compared using Wilcoxon signed-rank tests and Fisher's exact tests. For the two groups based on CD4 count, a logistic regression controlling for BMI, sex, and medications while looking at the odds of precancerous polyps was run. All statistics were performed using SAS Studio 3.8 software.

Patients were categorized into two groups based on their HIV disease state. They were determined to be either wellcontrolled HIV or poorly-controlled HIV patients (using viral load as a designation) and using CD4 count where patients were determined to be controlled or uncontrolled using a CD4 cutoff of 500. HIV patients determined to be wellcontrolled/controlled were likened to the general population and served as a control group (Figure 1).

RESULTS

HIV viral load for designation of well-controlled vs poorly-controlled HIV

A total of 370 records were reviewed. Of these patients, 163 were excluded due to having either a diagnostic colonoscopy, surveillance colonoscopy, or poor preparation. In total, 207 patients were found to have screening colonoscopies with good or excellent prep (Boston Bowel Prep Score > 7) and met our inclusion criteria. The mean age of our patient population was 56.13 years; 58% of our patients were male. Patients were divided into two separate groups based on their HIV disease state using viral load. Patients were denoted to be well-controlled based on a viral load < 50 copies/mL and poorly-controlled if their viral load was > 50 copies/mL. Based on these criteria, we had a total of 133 well-controlled patients and 74 poorly-controlled HIV patients. Using these two defined groups, baseline characteristics between them were compared.

Baseline characteristics between these two groups including age, sex, race, ethnicity, history of diabetes, smoking status, and insurance were not found to be statistically significant. However, the average BMI in well-controlled patients was found to be higher (27.8 kg/m²) than the average (25.9 kg/m²) in poorly-controlled HIV patients (P = 0.0207). See Table 1 for baseline characteristics.

At an alpha level of 0.05, the prevalence of polyps in both groups was not significantly different. Among the patients with well-controlled HIV, 13% had polyps, while 8% of patients in the poorly-controlled group had polyps. In the well-controlled group, 7.52% of patients had precancerous polyps, and 4.05% of poorly-controlled patients had precancerous polyps. Advanced and right colon adenomas were also found more often in the well-controlled group (5% and 4% *vs* 1% and 0%, respectively). However, this was not a significant difference.

Likhtshteyn M et al. Uncontrolled HIV patients develop precancerous polyps

Table 1 Baseline characteristics for CD4 count < 500 and CD4 count > 500 groups				
Clinical features	Parameter, <i>n</i> = 207 total	Controlled, <i>n</i> = 104	Uncontrolled, <i>n</i> = 103	P value
Age	Yr	55.9 (47-71)	56.3 (39-76)	0.6369
Sex	Male	46.15	70.87	0.0004
Race	Black	93.27	90.29	0.8201
	Hispanic	3.85	5.83	
	White	2.88	2.91	
Ethnicity	African American	26.32	39.29	0.6478
	Afro-Caribbean	31.58	25.00	
	Hispanic	21.05	25.00	
	Other	21.05	10.71	
BMI in kg/m ²		28.0	26.2	0.0276
Diabetes mellitus	Diabetic	14.42	11.76	0.6807
Smoking	Current	18.27	27.18	0.2451
Insurance	HIV specific	8.65	14.56	0.4638
	Medicare	10.58	14.56	
	Medicaid	60.58	53.40	
	Private	16.35	16.50	
	Self-Pay	1.92	0.97	

Data are presented as mean (range) or %, except BMI which is presented as mean. BMI: Body mass index; HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus.

CD4 count for designation of controlled vs uncontrolled HIV

There is some debate as to whether HIV viral load or CD4 count is the best stratifier to use for HIV disease progression[7-9]. Thus, we also analyzed the effect of CD4 count on polyp prevalence. To designate controlled and uncontrolled HIV, we used a CD4 count cutoff value of 500 cells/µL. Patients with a CD4 count > 500 cells/µL were considered to have controlled HIV while those with a CD4 count equal to or less than 500 cells/µL were considered to have uncontrolled HIV. Using these cutoff values, 104 patients met the criteria for controlled HIV and 103 met the criteria for uncontrolled HIV. With this definition, there were significant differences in the baseline characteristics of sex as well as BMI. As above, BMI was significantly higher in the controlled group (28 kg/m² vs 26.2 kg/m²). Additionally, there was a significantly greater proportion of males in the uncontrolled group (71%) as opposed to the controlled group (46%).

The uncontrolled group had significantly more polyps and precancerous polyps than the controlled group. Among the patients with uncontrolled HIV, 17% had any polyp on colonoscopy, while only 5% of patients with controlled HIV had any polyp. Precancerous polyps were also more likely to be found in the uncontrolled group (11%) vs the controlled group (2%). There were no significant differences in the prevalence of adenomas or other polyp types between the two groups.

Finally, a logistic regression demonstrated that the odds of precancerous polyps was 9.01 times greater [95% confidence interval (CI): 1.69-47.97] in the uncontrolled group than in the controlled group after adjusting for BMI, sex, and medication types. Of note, non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) were also associated with increased odds of precancerous polyps (odds ratio: 10.23; 95%CI: 1.08-97.15) (Figure 2).

DISCUSSION

Using CD4 count > 500 cells/ μ L as controlled HIV and CD4 count < 500 cells/ μ L as uncontrolled HIV, there was a significant association between HIV control and precancerous polyp presence. However, when using viral load < 50 copies for the definition of well-controlled vs poorly-controlled, there was not a significant difference in precancerous polyps noted. It was important to investigate these relationships using both viral load and CD4 count as disease status markers because there is debate as to which criteria is superior to demonstrate HIV disease status^[9]. Using CD4 count, BMI was again found to be significantly different between the controlled (n = 104) and uncontrolled (n = 103) HIV groups (P = 0.0276).

Interestingly, using CD4 counts to compare groups, 53.85% of controlled patients were females, and 70.87% of uncontrolled patients were males (P = 0.0004). In the controlled group, 1.92% of patients were found to have precancerous polyps, while 10.68% of uncontrolled patients had precancerous polyps, (P = 0.0102) (Table 2). In a logistic regression that

Table 2 Fisher's exact two-sided tests for the incidence of polyps in the CD4 count > 500 and CD4 count < 500 groups			
Variable	Controlled, <i>n</i> = 104	Uncontrolled, <i>n</i> = 103	<i>P</i> value
Any polyp	5 (4.81)	18 (17.48)	0.0040
Polyp type			0.0736
Adenoma	1 (0.96)	6 (5.83)	
Hyperplastic	3 (2.88)	4 (3.88)	
Serrated	1 (0.96)	5 (4.85)	
Precancerous	2 (1.92)	11 (10.68)	0.0102
Advanced adenoma	1 (0.96)	6 (5.83)	0.0651
Right colon adenoma	1 (0.96)	4 (3.88)	0.2119

Data are presented as n (%).

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.545 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Patient inclusion flow chart showing number of patients reviewed and division of human immunodeficiency virus groups based on viral load and CD4 count.

was performed to control for and assess the effects of sex, BMI, and antiretroviral use, uncontrolled patients were 9.01 times more likely to have precancerous polyps identified on their colonoscopy (95%CI: 1.69-47.97) (P = 0.0100). Patients taking NNRTIs were also found to be 10.23 times more likely to have precancerous polyps (95%CI: 1.08-97.15) (P = 0.0428) (Table 3). No significant differences were found with other types of HAART medicines. However, it is important to consider that HAART therapy combines multiple medicines.

The adenoma detection rate (ADR) for our HIV population was found to be 3.3%, which is seemingly low. However, in similar studies of HIV patients performed in urban academic centers, ADRs ranged between 6.6%-7.8%, and these studies included screening, diagnostic, and surveillance colonoscopies[3,5,6]. It is likely that if other types of colonoscopies such as diagnostic and surveillance were included in our study, our ADR would have been higher. Ultimately, institutions with large HIV patient populations or specialized HIV care may consider further investigating these complex relations, as

Likhtshteyn M et al. Uncontrolled HIV patients develop precancerous polyps

Table 3 Logistic regression of HIV control and precancerous polyps controlling for other variables			
Variable	Odds ratio (95%Cl)	<i>P</i> value	
CD4 < 500 vs CD4 > 500	9.01 (1.69-47.97)	0.0100	
Female vs male	2.58 (0.64-10.34)	0.1839	
BMI	0.99 (0.89-1.11)	0.8956	
NRTIs	1.50 (0.27-8.36)	0.6425	
NNRTIs	10.23 (1.08-97.15)	0.0428	
PIs	3.23 (0.35-29.98)	0.3032	
FIs	0.44 (0.01-23.08)	0.6832	
INSTIs	4.01 (0.23-69.67)	0.3403	
CCR5 antagonists	15.39 (0.22-999.99)	0.2073	

BMI: Body mass index; CI: Confidence interval; CCR5: C-C chemokine receptor 5; FIs: Fusion inhibitors; INSTI: Integrase strand transfer inhibitors; NNRTIs: Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; NRTIs: Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors.

Figure 2 Odds ratio for precancerous polyps stratified by variables. ¹Statistical significance. BMI: Body mass index; CCR5: C-C chemokine receptor 5; FIs: Fusion inhibitors; INSTIs: Integrase strand transfer inhibitors; NNRTIs: Non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; NRTIs: Nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors; PIs: Protease inhibitors.

this would help to increase the study ADR.

Using viral load to determine our two HIV groups, we found no differences in precancerous polyp detection. However, using CD4 count to determine the two groups, we found a significant difference, with uncontrolled patients having more precancerous polyps. Prospective studies involving HIV patients undergoing screening colonoscopy should be performed where CD4 count and HIV viral load are recorded on the day of procedure in order to better classify patients in terms of their disease status as it may relate to their findings on colonoscopy.

Our analysis also suggested an increased risk of precancerous polyps in patients who were taking NNRTIs. Most literature supports the concept that HAART has decreased the risk of HIV patients ever developing NADMs[2,6]; however, there have not been studies analyzing colorectal cancer development and HAART by drug class or drug combination. It is unclear what the mechanism of action may be regarding the use of NNRTIs and polyp growth. A study conducted by Chao *et al*[10] at Kaiser Permanente suggested that for patients with long-term use of protease inhibitors, there was an associated higher risk of anal cancer[10]. That same study did not show any association between NRRTI use and anal cancer. Similarly, a study by Piketty *et al*[11] also reported an increased anal cancer risk in HAART users, suggesting that ART therapy does not appear to prevent anal cancer. While anal cancer, advanced polyps, and colon

cancer all have different pathogeneses, we highlighted that there is still work to be done to understand the mechanism behind neoplasm development in HIV patients.

Future studies need to be performed to determine if any specific HAART regimen might impact colorectal cancer development. Conversely, some studies have shown that the occurrence of NADMs has increased since the introduction of HAART in 1996. Prior studies show an association between NNRTI use and NADMs[12]. While HAART does not have a direct effect on host DNA, there is substantial evidence that HAART alters gut microbiota[13], which may serve as a theoretical mechanism for the increased ADR in patients on NNRTIs. In addition, it is possible that the use of NNRTIs may increase NADMs by increasing lifespan of HIV patients and the rate of obesity, both of which may contribute to adenomatous polyp development.

CONCLUSION

In our study, we found there was an increased rate of precancerous polyps in patients who had lower CD4 counts and those taking NNRTIs. While the overall precancerous polyp and ADR was low in this population, further studies are needed to elucidate the possible mechanism of these differences.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Antiretroviral therapies have improved the life expectancy of patients living with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). As these patients live longer, they can develop non-acquired immunodeficiency syndrome defining malignancies such as colon cancers.

Research motivation

Some studies have shown that highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART) decreases the risk of developing colorectal cancer, while other studies propose that HIV patients are at higher risk and develop colorectal cancer at younger ages. There is no recommendation in gastrointestinal guidelines regarding special screening ages for HIV patients.

Research objectives

Our objective was to identify which factors are associated with the development of precancerous polyps on index screening colonoscopy in patients with HIV and to investigate whether HIV disease severity, measured by viral load and CD4 count, might impact adenoma growth.

Research methods

A retrospective review of electronic medical charts at Kings County Hospital and SUNY Downstate Health Sciences University for patients with HIV who had received a screening colonoscopy between 2005 and 2015 was performed.

Research results

We determined there was an increased rate of precancerous polyps in patients who had lower CD4 counts and those taking non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors.

Research conclusions

We determined there was a relationship between HIV disease status and precancerous polys found on colonoscopy. Further studies need to be done to further explore this relationship in patients with HIV.

Research perspectives

Further studies and work need to be done to determine if any specific HAART regimen might impact colorectal cancer development.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Likhtshteyn M, Marzouk E, Arroyo-Mercado FM, Chawla G, and Lerer R contributed equally to this work; Thor S was the research mentor specializing in gastroenterology; Ojeda-Martinez H was the research mentor specializing in Infectious Diseases and HIV; Rosengarten S performed statistical analysis; Likhtshteyn M, Marzouk M, Rosengarten S, and Thor S wrote the manuscript; Likhtshteyn M and Thor S were responsible for revising the manuscript; All authors read and approved the final version.

Institutional review board statement: The project, "Adenoma prevalence, characteristics, and outcomes on screening colonoscopy in patients with HIV in an Urban Safety Net Hospital and Urban University Hospital" was approved by SUNY Downstate Health Sciences IRB on October 13, 2020, No. 1306045.

Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to study enrollment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare having no conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: Please contact mlikhtsh@gmail.com for all statistical requests.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Michelle Likhtshteyn 0009-0007-9894-0760.

S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Fan JR

REFERENCES

- Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort Collaboration. Survival of HIV-positive patients starting antiretroviral therapy between 1996 and 2013: a 1 collaborative analysis of cohort studies. Lancet HIV 2017; 4: e349-e356 [PMID: 28501495 DOI: 10.1016/S2352-3018(17)30066-8]
- 2 Klugman AD, Schaffner J. Colon adenocarcinoma in HIV infection: a case report and review. Am J Gastroenterol 1994; 89: 254-256 [PMID: 83043131
- 3 Silverberg MJ, Abrams DI. Do antiretrovirals reduce the risk of non-AIDS-defining malignancies? Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2009; 4: 42-51 [PMID: 19339938 DOI: 10.1097/COH.0b013e32831a9875]
- Gutkin E, Hussain SA, Mehta P, Kim SH, Pollack S, Rubin M. Prevalence of Adenomas Found on Colonoscopy in Patients With HIV. 4 Gastroenterology Res 2012; 5: 52-56 [PMID: 27785180 DOI: 10.4021/gr433w]
- Nayudu SK, Balar B. Colorectal cancer screening in human immunodeficiency virus population: Are they at average risk? World J 5 Gastrointest Oncol 2012; 4: 259-264 [PMID: 23443303 DOI: 10.4251/wjgo.v4.i12.259]
- O'Neill TJ, Nguemo JD, Tynan AM, Burchell AN, Antoniou T. Risk of Colorectal Cancer and Associated Mortality in HIV: A Systematic 6 Review and Meta-Analysis. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2017; 75: 439-447 [PMID: 28471838 DOI: 10.1097/QAI.000000000001433]
- 7 Mahmood E, Lapumnuaypol K, Bandres M, Jain D, Zavala S. Prevalence of Adenoma and Advanced Adenoma in HIV Positive Patients Undergoing Screening Colonoscopy. Am J Gastroenterol 2018; 113 Suppl [DOI: 10.14309/00000434-201810001-02764]
- Burgi A, Brodine S, Wegner S, Milazzo M, Wallace MR, Spooner K, Blazes DL, Agan BK, Armstrong A, Fraser S, Crum NF. Incidence and 8 risk factors for the occurrence of non-AIDS-defining cancers among human immunodeficiency virus-infected individuals. Cancer 2005; 104: 1505-1511 [PMID: 16104038 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.21334]
- Shoko C, Chikobvu D. A superiority of viral load over CD4 cell count when predicting mortality in HIV patients on therapy. BMC Infect Dis 9 2019; 19: 169 [PMID: 30770728 DOI: 10.1186/s12879-019-3781-1]
- Chao C, Leyden WA, Xu L, Horberg MA, Klein D, Towner WJ, Quesenberry CP Jr, Abrams DI, Silverberg MJ. Exposure to antiretroviral 10 therapy and risk of cancer in HIV-infected persons. AIDS 2012; 26: 2223-2231 [PMID: 22951631 DOI: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32835935b3]
- 11 Piketty C, Selinger-Leneman H, Grabar S, Duvivier C, Bonmarchand M, Abramowitz L, Costagliola D, Mary-Krause M; FHDH-ANRS CO 4. Marked increase in the incidence of invasive anal cancer among HIV-infected patients despite treatment with combination antiretroviral therapy. AIDS 2008; 22: 1203-1211 [PMID: 18525266 DOI: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283023f78]
- Powles T, Robinson D, Stebbing J, Shamash J, Nelson M, Gazzard B, Mandelia S, Møller H, Bower M. Highly active antiretroviral therapy 12 and the incidence of non-AIDS-defining cancers in people with HIV infection. J Clin Oncol 2009; 27: 884-890 [PMID: 19114688 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2008.19.6626
- Pinto-Cardoso S, Klatt NR, Reves-Terán G. Impact of antiretroviral drugs on the microbiome: unknown answers to important questions. Curr 13 Opin HIV AIDS 2018; 13: 53-60 [PMID: 29028667 DOI: 10.1097/COH.00000000000428]

E W C

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 September 16; 15(9): 553-563

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal*

Endoscopy

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.553

Observational Study

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Graft dilatation and Barrett's esophagus in adults after gastric pullup and jejunal interposition for long-gap esophageal atresia

Eleonora Sofie van Tuyll van Serooskerken, Gabriele Gallo, Bas L Weusten, Jessie Westerhof, Lodewijk AA Brosens, Sander Zwaveling, Jetske Ruiterkamp, Jan BF Hulscher, Hubertus GM Arets, Arnold JN Bittermann, David C van der Zee, Stefaan HAJ Tytgat, Maud YA Lindeboom

Specialty type: Pediatrics	Eleonora Sofie van Tuyll van Serooskerken, Jetske Ruiterkamp, David C van der Zee, Stefaan HAJ
Provenance and peer review:	Utrecht 3508 AB Netherlands
Unsolicited article: Externally peer	Steent 5506 AB, Ivenerands
reviewed.	Gabriele Gallo, Jan BF Hulscher, Department of Pediatric Surgery, University Medical Center
	Groningen, Groningen 9713 GZ, Netherlands
Peer-review model: Single blind	
Deer review report's acientific	Bas L weusten , Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Medical Center
quality algoritien	Otrecht, Otrecht 3508 AB, Netherlands
	Jessie Westerhof, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Medical Center
Grade A (Excellent): 0	Groningen, Groningen 9713 GZ, Netherlands
Grade B (Very good): B	
Grade C (Good): C	Lodewijk AA Brosens, Department of Pathology, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht
Grade D (Fair): 0	3508 AB, Netherlands
Grade E (Poor): 0	Condex Transling D ((CD 1') (CD ((CD ())))
P-Reviewer: Ovist N. Denmark:	Sander Zwavening, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Amsterdam University Medical Center,
Tharavei C. Thailand	Anisteruam 1105 AZ, Nemerianus
	Hubertus GM Arets, Department of Pediatric Pulmonology, Wilhelmina Children's Hospital,
Received: April 5, 2023	Utrecht 3508 AB, Netherlands
Peer-review started: April 5, 2023	
First decision: June 1, 2023	Arnold JN Bittermann, Department of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology, Wilhelmina Children's
Revised: June 15, 2023	Hospital, Utrecht 3508 AB, Netherlands
Accepted: July 25, 2023	Corresponding author: Elegences Sofie van Tuvil van Sereeskerken MD. Researcher
Article in press: July 25, 2023	Department of Dedictric Surgery, Wilhelmine Children's Heavitel, DO Pay \$5000 Utreacht
Published online: September 16,	2508 AB Netherlands, a s vantuellvanserooskarkan 3@umoutracht nl
2023	5506 AD, Neulenands, c.s. vanuy invanserooskerken-5@unieuteent.in
	Abstract
	BACKGROUND
	Esophageal replacement (ER) with gastric pull-up (GPU) or iejunal interposition

Esophageal replacement (ER) with gastric pull-up (GPU) or jejunal interposition (JI) used to be the standard treatment for long-gap esophageal atresia (LGEA). Changes of the ER grafts on a macro- and microscopic level however, are unknown.

AIM

To evaluate long-term clinical symptoms and anatomical and mucosal changes in adolescents and adults after ER for LGEA.

METHODS

A cohort study was conducted including all LGEA patients \geq 16 years who had undergone GPU or JI between 1985-2003 at two tertiary referral centers in the Netherlands. Patients underwent clinical assessment, contrast study and endoscopy with biopsy. Data was collected prospectively. Group differences between JI and GPU patients, and associations between different outcome measures were assessed using the Fisher's exact test for bivariate variables and the Mann-Whitney *U*-test for continuous variables. Differences with a *P*-value < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Nine GPU patients and eleven JI patients were included. Median age at follow-up was 21.5 years and 24.4 years, respectively. Reflux was reported in six GPU patients (67%) *vs* four JI patients (36%) (P = 0.37). Dysphagia symptoms were reported in 64% of JI patients, compared to 22% of GPU patients (P = 0.09). Contrast studies showed dilatation of the jejunal graft in six patients (55%) and graft lengthening in four of these six patients. Endoscopy revealed columnar-lined esophagus in three GPU patients (33%) and intestinal metaplasia was histologically confirmed in two patients (22%). No association was found between reflux symptoms and macroscopic anomalies or intestinal metaplasia. Three GPU patients (33%) experienced severe feeding problems *vs* none in the JI group. The median body mass index of JI patients was 20.9 kg/m² *vs* 19.5 kg/m² in GPU patients (P = 0.08).

CONCLUSION

The majority of GPU patients had reflux and intestinal metaplasia in 22%. The majority of JI patients had dysphagia and a dilated graft. Follow-up after ER for LGEA is essential.

Key Words: Long-gap esophageal atresia; Jejunal interposition; Gastric pull-up; Barrett's esophagus; Intestinal metaplasia; Esophageal replacement

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Long-gap esophageal atresia (LGEA) remains a surgical challenge. Preservation of the native esophagus in LGEA is the treatment of choice. Previously however, almost all LGEA patients underwent esophageal replacement (ER). This study evaluated long-term clinical symptoms and anatomical and mucosal changes in adolescents and adults after ER for LGEA. We found that long-term symptoms and graft alterations were common. The majority of gastric pull-up patients had reflux symptoms with intestinal metaplasia in 22%. The majority of jejunal interposition (JI) patients had dysphagia symptoms and more than half of the JI grafts were dilated.

Citation: van Tuyll van Serooskerken ES, Gallo G, Weusten BL, Westerhof J, Brosens LA, Zwaveling S, Ruiterkamp J, Hulscher JB, Arets HG, Bittermann AJ, van der Zee DC, Tytgat SH, Lindeboom MY. Graft dilatation and Barrett's esophagus in adults after gastric pull-up and jejunal interposition for long-gap esophageal atresia. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2023; 15(9): 553-563 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i9/553.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.553

INTRODUCTION

Long-gap esophageal atresia (LGEA) is present in approximately 10% of all EA[1] and remains a surgical challenge[2,3]. Preservation of the native esophagus in LGEA is the treatment of choice, which can be accomplished by delayed primary anastomosis[4,5] or elongation techniques[6-10] in experienced centers. Previously however, almost all LGEA patients underwent esophageal replacement (ER) with gastric[11], jejunal[12] or colonic[13] conduit.

Since survival rates have improved up to 90% in EA[14], focus has shifted to the investigation and treatment of longterm morbidities and quality of life. Gastrointestinal symptoms, including gastroesophageal reflux (GER) and dysphagia, are frequent in EA[15]. The incidence of (severe) reflux is expected to be even higher in patients after a gastric pull-up (GPU)[16]. This may be explained by mobilization of the stomach into the mediastinum. This results in alteration of the shape of the gastroesophageal junction and consequently the loss of the angle of His, which is one of the anti-reflux barriers. Moreover, the negative intrathoracic pressure and the positive intraluminal pressure in the transposed stomach may increase GER[17]. Micro-aspiration due to GER may contribute to chronic cough and asthma-like symptoms[18,19]. Chronic GER may lead to esophageal mucosal alterations with a four times higher incidence of Barrett's esophagus compared to healthy controls[20]. Literature on the long-term outcome of ER is scarce[16,21-23]. Studies on long-term endoscopic findings in LGEA patients are lacking. Therefore, this study aims to evaluate the long-term outcome of jejunal interposition (JI) and GPU on clinical symptoms and anatomical and mucosal changes in adolescents and adults after LGEA.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and participants

A cohort study was conducted including all LGEA patients \geq 16 years old who had undergone JI or GPU at the University Medical Center Utrecht (UMCU) and the University Medical Center Groningen between 1985 and 2003. As of 2018, all 17year-old EA patients are routinely referred to the gastroenterologist for clinical assessment and endoscopic and histologic screening for esophageal mucosal lesions. All adult LGEA patients (> 17 years), that were not yet included in the routine follow-up, were invited for screening. Patients that had ER for LGEA underwent an one-time barium contrast study, to evaluate the anatomy of the graft. Data was collected prospectively. Gastroscopies that were performed after the age of 17 years and within the last four years, were reviewed retrospectively.

Surgical procedures

All ERs had been performed by experienced pediatric surgeons. The GPU was performed as previously described by Spitz *et al*[11,24]. In short, after mobilization of the stomach and a pyloromyotomy transhiatal posterior mediastinal tunnel is created and the stomach is transposed into the thorax through the esophageal hiatus. Thereafter, the proximal esophagus and the apex of the stomach are anastomosed in the neck. JI was performed as described in these studies[12,25, 26]. The pedicle graft is created: The jejunum is transected close to Treitz ligament and at the level of the third mesenteric artery branch. The uppermost part of the graft is tunneled into the right chest, behind the stomach and through the posterior part of the hiatus. Thereafter, two anastomosis are performed, one between the proximal esophagus and the jejunal graft and another between the distal esophagus and the jejunal graft.

Clinical assessment

Baseline characteristics, including gender, age, type of EA and associated anomalies were obtained from the electronic medical records.

Gastro-intestinal symptoms: Gastrointestinal symptom assessment (*e.g.*, reflux, dysphagia) was derived from the routine outpatient follow-up at the Gastroenterology Department.

Contrast study: Upper gastrointestinal barium contrast studies were analyzed by an experienced radiologist and pediatric surgeon for the following parameters: Anastomotic stenosis, stasis of contrast, reflux, graft-dilatation and graft-lengthening (resulting in a siphon shaped graft) of the JI and the position of the stomach in GPU patients.

Upper endoscopy and histology: Upper endoscopy was performed by a gastroenterologist to assess the esophagus, the anastomotic site(s), the grafts, the gastroesophageal junction and the stomach. Reflux esophagitis and intestinal metaplasia were scored according to the Los Angeles (LA) classification[27] and Prague criteria[28]. Barrett's esophagus was defined as columnar lined esophagus on endoscopy in combination with intestinal metaplasia on histology. In patients with JI, biopsies were taken from both the distal and proximal esophagus. Jejunal grafts were evaluated on proximal or distal stenosis, (distal) dilatation of the graft and on macroscopic lesions. Biopsies of the jejunal graft were taken if mucosal abnormalities were present. The GPU was evaluated on anastomotic stenosis, macroscopic lesions and altered anatomy. In patients with GPU, biopsies were taken just proximal to the anastomosis. In case of macroscopic abnormalities of the GPU, biopsies were taken. Endoscopies were reviewed by an experienced gastroenterologist and a pediatric surgeon. Biopsies were evaluated for inflammation, eosinophilia and metaplasia by the Pathology Department by an expert gastrointestinal pathologist.

Ethical approval

This study was part of a larger cohort study on the long-term outcome in LGEA patients. The study protocol was submitted to the UMCU Ethics Committee (METC 18-458/C). According to the Medical Research Involving Human Subject Act, no ethical approval was required.

Statistical analysis

Continuous skewed variables were presented as median and range, categorical data were presented as frequencies and percentage. Group differences between JI and GPU patients, and associations between different outcome measures were assessed using the Fisher's exact test for bivariate variables and the Mann-Whitney *U*-test for continuous variables. Differences with a *P* value < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The analyses were performed using SPSS for Windows, version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

Zaishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

RESULTS

Between 1985 and 2003, a total of 24 patients underwent ER for LGEA (Figure 1). One JI patient was deceased at the age of 10 years due to massive aspiration. After following the exclusion criteria, twenty patients were included in this study. Nine patients underwent GPU and eleven underwent JI. Median age at follow-up was 21.5 years (range 20.2-34.1) for GPU patients and 24.4 years (range 16.1-31.2) for JI patients. Five JI patients (46%) and all GPU patients were male (P =0.01). Associated anomalies (e.g., cardiac, renal, musculoskeletal anomalies) were more present in GPU patients than in JI patients (100% vs 55%, P = 0.04). In both groups severe mental retardation and Down syndrome were present in one patient. Patient characteristics are shown in Table 1. Preoperative gastrostomy was present in all JI patients and in eight (89%) GPU patients. Anastomotic strictures requiring dilatation had developed in eight JI patients (73%) and five GPU patients (55%). Fundoplication was required in one JI patient at the age of 2 years (Table 2).

Clinical assessment

Reflux complaints were reported in six of the nine GPU patients (67%) and in four out of 11 JI patients (36%) (P = 0.37). Dysphagia symptoms were scored in seven JI patients (64%) vs two GPU patients (22%) (P = 0.09). Three GPU patients (33%) experienced severe feeding problems. Due to swallowing disabilities, one patient was still fully dependent on jejunostomy feeding, with minimal attempts of liquid oral feeds. Another patient required additional jejunostomy feeding until the age of 21 years, but has recently reached a full oral diet. One patient required additional drink nutrition to achieve a full oral diet. In the JI group, no severe feeding problems were observed.

The median body mass index (BMI) of JI patients was 20.9 kg/m^2 (range 17.9-27.6) vs 19.5 kg/m^2 (range 17.5-21.6) in GPU patients (P = 0.08). Two JI patients (18%) were underweight (BMI < 18.5 kg/m²) and one patient was overweight $(BMI > 25 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ (Table 3). Three GPU patients (33%) were underweight, none of the patients were overweight.

Contrast study

GPU: Barium contrast studies were performed in five of the nine GPU patients (56%). In one patient, the stomach was completely transposed into the thorax. This patient showed some lengthening of the distal esophagus and stasis of liquids in the distal esophagus. Another patient, with Down syndrome, also showed stasis of contrast in the esophagus. No reflux was observed in these patients.

Four out of nine GPU patients did not undergo a contrast study; three patients did not consent because they did not experience major gastro-intestinal complaints. One patient with mental retardation was unable to perform a contrast study due to severe swallowing difficulties.

JI: Barium contrast studies were performed in all 11 JI patients. Ten patients (91%) showed stasis of contrast in the ER graft. None of the patients had a proximal or distal stenosis. The jejunal graft was dilated in six (55%) patients. In two of these patients, graft dilatation was severe. In four of these six patients, mild to moderate lengthening of the distal part of the jejunal graft was observed (Figure 2).

Endoscopic results

GPU: All GPU patients (*n* = 9) had undergone gastroscopy. The median distance from the incisors to the anastomosis was 19 cm (range 17-24). Macroscopic anomalies of the native esophagus were seen in five patients (56%); three patients showed columnar lined esophagus (33%) (C0M2, C0M2, C1M2) (Figure 3). One patient had an erosion at the distal part of the esophagus and another patient, who was jejunostomy dependent due to severe swallowing difficulties, had a pinpoint stenosis of the anastomosis (Table 4).

JI: All JI patients (*n* = 11) had undergone upper endoscopy. The median distance from the incisors to the proximal anastomosis was 21 cm (range 18-25), the median length of the jejunal graft was 15 cm (range 12-22) and the median length of the distal esophagus was 4.5 cm (range 0-8). In none of the patients a proximal or distal anastomotic stenosis was present. Macroscopic anomalies were seen in five patients (45%): Two patients showed macroscopic esophagitis of the distal esophagus according to the LA classification (grade A, n = 1; grade B, n = 1), one patient had fields of squamous epithelium in the proximal part of the jejunal graft, one patient showed elevation of normal mucosa in the distal esophagus and a neurological impaired patient had stasis of food and an ulcer at the distal part of the jejunal graft. None of the JI patients showed columnar-lined esophagus (Table 4).

Histologic results

GPU: In three patients with macroscopic columnar-lined esophagus, biopsies of the native distal esophagus showed intestinal metaplasia in two patients (22%), both with Prague classification C0M2 (2 men; median age 21.6 years). In two patients, biopsies of the distal esophagus showed chronic inflammation. Biopsies in another two patients showed hyperplastic squamous epithelium without dysplasia. In one patient, histopathology revealed that biopsies of cardia and corpus were obtained. Histopathology showed no signs of dysplasia in any of the patients. In one patient without macroscopic anomalies, no biopsies specimens were taken (Table 4).

JI: In three patients, histology of the native distal esophagus showed normal esophageal mucosa. In one patient, biopsy of the native distal esophagus showed a single glandular tube with signs of intestinal metaplasia. A target biopsy of a small mucosal elevation of the distal esophagus in another patient showed mild reactive changes of the mucosa. In two patients, biopsies of the stomach were obtained. Biopsies in one patient showed no abnormalities. In the other patient without macroscopic anomalies, biopsy of the stomach showed lymphoid infiltration, further investigation excluded

Table 1 Patient characteristics gastric pull-up & jejunal interposition			
Value	GPU (<i>n</i> = 9)	JI (<i>n</i> = 11)	<i>P</i> value
Male	9 (100%)	5 (46%)	0.01 ^a
Gestational age (wk)	33.9 (29-39)	34.7 (32.3-41.3)	0.15
Premature	7 (78%)	8 (73%)	1.0
Birthweight (grams)	1680 (1030-3040)	2010 (1115-3755)	0.49
Gross type EA			0.63
А	5 (56%)	4 (36%)	
В	3 (33%)	6 (55%)	
С	1 (11%)	1 (9%)	
Associated anomalies ¹	9 (100%)	6 (55%)	0.04 ^a
Down syndrome	1 (11%)	1 (9%)	
Anorectal malformations	1 (11%)	1 (9%)	
Duodenal atresia	1 (11%)	1 (9%)	
Musculoskeletal	4 (44%)	3 (27%)	
Cardiac	1 (11%)	2 (18%)	
Renal anomaly	4 (44%)	1 (9%)	
Palatoschisis	2 (22%)	0	

¹Some patients have multiple anomalies.

^aIndicating statistical significance.

All data are presented as median (range) or n (%). GPU: Gastric pull-up; JI: Jejunal interposition; EA: Esophageal atresia.

Table 2 Gastrointestinal outcome in gastric pull-up & jejunal interposition			
Variable	GPU (<i>n</i> = 9)	JI (<i>n</i> = 11)	<i>P</i> value
Age at surgery (d)	128 (1-323)	67 (41-149)	0.21
Gastrostomy	8 (89%)	11 (100%)	0.45
Fundoplication	0	1 (9.1%)	1.0
Stenosis ¹	5 (56%)	8 (73%)	0.64
Dilatations total (<i>n</i>)	3 (1-4)	3 (1-15)	0.76
Dilatations within 1^{st} yr (n)	1 (1-3)	2.5 (0-15)	0.26

¹Stenosis requiring intervention

Data are presented as median (range) or n (%). GPU: Gastric pull-up; JI: Jejunal interposition.

lymphoma. None of the biopsies showed signs of esophageal dysplasia. In four patients without suspected macroscopic anomalies (36%), no biopsies specimens were taken (Table 4).

Symptom and graft analysis

Columnar-lined esophagus of the native esophagus occurred more often in the GPU group compared to the JI-group (3 vs 0 patients, P = 0.07). No associations were found in GPU patients between reflux symptoms and macroscopic mucosal abnormalities during upper endoscopy or with intestinal metaplasia. Both patients that had confirmed intestinal metaplasia, reported reflux symptoms and were treated with proton-pump inhibitors (PPIs). No association was found between intestinal metaplasia and GER symptoms. No association was found between BMI and reflux.

Of the six patients with a dilated JI-graft, five (83%) reported dysphagia complaints. Of the four patients with lengthening of the JI-graft, three (75%) reported dysphagia symptoms. However, there was no statistically significant association between dilatation or lengthening and dysphagia.

van Tuyll van Serooskerken ES et al. Outcome after ER in LGEA

Table 3 Clinical data			
Variable	GPU (<i>n</i> = 9)	JI (<i>n</i> = 11)	<i>P</i> value
Age at follow-up (median, yr)	21.5 (20.2-34.1)	24.4 (16.1-31.2)	0.85
GER complaints	6 (67%)	4 (36%)	0.37
Dysphagia	2 (22%)	7 (64%)	0.09
FOIS			
Total oral diet with no restrictions	5	5	
Specific food limitations	1	2	
Multiple consistencies, requiring special preparation	1	0	
Tube-dependent	1	0	
Missing	1	4	
PPI use	4 (44%)	3 (27%)	0.38
BMI (kg/m ²)	19.5 (17.5-21.6)	20.9 (17.9-27.6)	0.08

Data are presented as median (range) or n (%). GPU: Gastric pull-up; JI: Jejunal interposition; GER: Gastroesophageal reflux; FOIS: Functional Oral Intake Scale; PPI: Protein-protein interaction; BMI: Body mass index.

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.553 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 1 Flowchart of patients included in the study. GPU: Gastric pull-up; JI: Jejunal interposition.

DISCUSSION

This is the first study to evaluate very long-term changes in ER grafts for LGEA by contrast study and endoscopy, showing intestinal metaplasia in 22% of GPU patients and graft dilatation in JI patients. Furthermore, this study evaluates gastrointestinal symptoms during a long-term follow-up.

We found that the majority of GPU patients had reflux symptoms, which is in line with the outcome of the study of Hannon et al[21]. In our study, reflux symptoms were assessed at the outpatient clinic by a gastroenterologist. EA patients might consider reflux symptoms as normal after prolonged periods of reflux. Symptom-related questions asked by a specialist may identify patients with reflux symptoms who would otherwise consider themselves free of symptoms [29]. This can explain the high incidence of reflux found in this study.

This study showed that reflux symptoms occurred less in JI patients compared to GPU patients. This difference may be explained by the fact that several physiological anti-reflux mechanisms are altered in GPU patients, such as the intrathoracic position of the stomach with a negative intrathoracic pressure and loss of the His angle[17]. In the JI patient group, the distal esophagus remained intact with an intra-abdominal position in all but one patient. Although peristalsis of the graft is not as efficient as a native esophagus, the other antireflux barriers are preserved.

Postoperative dysphagia was present in the majority of JI patients. Their nutritional status, however, was good on the long term and all JI patients had a full oral intake. This is in contrast to previous studies [30,31], with only 33%-57% of JI patients tolerating a complete oral intake. This difference may be explained by the occurrence of severe postoperative complications in both studies, including graft loss.

In our study, GPU patients reported less dysphagia symptoms compared to JI patients. Our GPU group also reported less dysphagia symptoms than the GPU group of Hannon et al[21], although this difference is relatively small. Lower BMI has been described in GPU patients compared to primary repair EA patients[21]. This is in line with our findings, in

Table 4 Radiologic, endoscopic and histologic data			
Variable	GPU (<i>n</i> = 9)	JI (<i>n</i> = 11)	P value
Barium contrast results	<i>n</i> = 5	<i>n</i> = 11	
Stasis	3 (60%)	10 (91%)	0.14
Stricture	0	0	-
Dilated JI graft	N/A		N/A
Mild		4 (36%)	
Severe		2 (18%)	
Lengthening of JI graft	N/A	4 (36%)	N/A
Endoscopy results	<i>n</i> = 9	<i>n</i> = 11	
Length proximal esophagus (cm)	20 (17-24)	21 (18-25)	-
Length jejunal graft (cm)	N/A	15 (12-22)	-
Length distal esophagus (cm)	N/A	4.5 (0-8)	-
Macroscopic anomalies	5 (56%)	5 (45%)	1.0
Macroscopic esophagitis ¹			
Grade A	0	1 (9%)	-
Grade B	0	1 (9%)	-
Columnar-lined esophagus	3 (33%)	0	0.07
Histology results	<i>n</i> = 8	<i>n</i> = 7	
Normal mucosa	1 (13%)	3 (43%)	0.58
Inflammation	2 (25%)	1 (14%)	1
Intestinal metaplasia	2 (25%)	0	0.47
Other	3 (38%)	3 (43%)	1.0

¹According to the Los Angeles classification.

Data are presented as median (range) or n (%). GPU: Gastric pull-up; JI: Jejunal interposition; N/A: Not applicable.

which one third of the GPU patients were underweight and needed nutritional supplements. One might speculate that reflux negatively influences the achievement of an adequate caloric intake and consequent lower BMI[32,33]. However, in our study, an association between reflux and BMI could not be found.

Our study showed that the majority of patients had a dilated JI graft. Although almost all of these patients reported dysphagia complaints, an association between the dilatation and dysphagia was not statistically significant. The dilatation of the jejunal graft may be explained by the slower motility of the jejunal graft compared to the faster motility of the esophagus. Stasis of food due to dysmotility of the jejunal graft and the distal esophageal remnant may result in dilatation of the graft and may cause dysphagia symptoms in these patients. Lengthening of the JI graft may also contribute to dysmotility and therefore dysphagia due to the siphon shape. Previously, JI graft dilatation has only been described by Saeki et al[22]. In his study on JI for LGEA (mean age 10 years) dilatation of a graft was observed in one patient. This was due to a stenosis of the distal anastomosis. In our study, lengthening of the jejunal graft was seen in 36% of JI patients, which is in line with previous studies[22,23].

Upper endoscopy showed columnar-lined esophagus in one third of the GPU patients and in none of the JI patients in our study. Histology reported intestinal metaplasia in 22% of GPU patients and in none of the JI patient. These findings are in contrast to the only other published study using endoscopy in adults after LGEA by Vergouwe et al[20]. The latter showed no signs of Barrett's esophagus in LGEA patients with ER. However, they showed an incidence of 6.6% Barrett's esophagus in their total cohort of 151 adult EA patients. Vergouwe et al[20] also showed two patients with esophageal cancer. Esophageal cancer after primary repair of EA at the site of the anastomosis in a patient with severe reflux has also been described[34]. In our study, no patients were found with esophageal cancer.

Our findings reveal that the macroscopic and microscopic tissue changes seen in the GPU grafts were not significantly associated with reflux symptoms. This may be explained by the fact that many patients were treated with PPIs. Also, metaplasia of the esophageal mucosa can protect against acid reflux and therefore prevent symptoms of discomfort. Furthermore, one can expect that EA patients may get used to reflux symptoms, although this is not evidence based. Reflux symptoms can thus not be used as a reliable detector for the presence of intestinal metaplasia. Since GPU is the most frequently performed ER procedure for LGEA and intestinal metaplasia or Barrett's esophagus may occur more frequently in this subset of patients, further follow-up of GPU in the long-term may clarify this concern. Barrett's

van Tuyll van Serooskerken ES et al. Outcome after ER in LGEA

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.553 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 2 Lengthening and dilatation of the distal jejunal graft.

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.553 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Barrett's esophagus (C0M2) in a gastric pull-up patient.

esophagus in the normal population increases steeply from young adulthood until the 6th decade of life. Since our cohort consists of young patients, the prevalence of Barrett's esophagus will become more clear after long term follow-up.

Due to the rarity of LGEA, data are scarce. This inevitably limits our study and therefore, interpretations must be made with caution. Furthermore, treatment for LGEA is being corrected by using the thoracoscopic traction technique in our center. In our opinion, this is now the treatment of choice for LGEA, but only in experienced centers. Alternatively, if experience in this challenging procedure is not available, a GPU can be performed.

Other limitations in this study include the retrospective design of the study and the missing histology in five JI patients and one GPU patient. Although the macroscopic aspects during endoscopy seemed normal in these patients, histological evidence would be preferred. Also, contrast studies were missing in four GPU patients. Furthermore, review of contrast

gaisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

studies is not standardized and therefore subjective. However, all contrast studies were analyzed by an experienced radiologist and pediatric surgeon to minimize bias.

CONCLUSION

This study shows that ER grafts show significant macroscopic and microscopic abnormalities after long-term follow-up. Dilatation of the graft and dysphagia symptoms were present in the majority of JI patients. GPU patients may have an increased risk of intestinal metaplasia. Therefore, increased awareness and endoscopic follow-up during adulthood is suggested for LGEA patients after ER. Especially since GPU has been and still is the most frequently used treatment for LGEA.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Previously, esophageal replacement (ER) with gastric pull-up (GPU) or jejunal interposition (JI) used to be the standard treatment for long-gap esophageal atresia (LGEA). Gastrointestinal symptoms are common in EA patients and may occur even more frequently after ER, due to a change of the anatomy.

Research motivation

Long-term macroscopic and microscopic graft changes are currently unknown and may be clinically relevant in patients with LGEA.

Research objectives

This study aims to evaluate clinical symptoms and macroscopic and microscopic graft changes in adolescence and adulthood.

Research methods

A cohort study including all LGEA patients \geq 16 years who had undergone ER between 1985-2003 at two tertiary centers in the Netherlands was conducted. Clinical symptoms, contrast studies and endoscopies were collected prospectively.

Research results

Nine GPU patients and eleven JI patients were included in this study, with a median age of 21.5 years and 24.4 years respectively. Six of nine GPU patients (67%) reported reflux complaints and 64% of JI patients reported dysphagia symptoms. Dilatation of the jejunal graft was observed in 55%. Three GPU patients had columnar-lined epithelium and in two of these patients intestinal metaplasia was histologically confirmed.

Research conclusions

Long-term follow-up revealed significant macroscopic and microscopic graft changes after ER. Furthermore, this study revealed long-term clinical symptoms after both GPU and JI. GPU patients may have an increased risk on intestinal metaplasia. Dilatation of the graft and dysphagia symptoms were present in the majority of JI patients. Follow-up during adulthood after ER for LGEA is therefore suggested.

Research perspectives

This study highlights the importance of implementing an endoscopic follow-up program after ER for LGEA, particularly after GPU. Further investigations with larger patient cohorts are necessary to validate these findings.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: van Tuyll van Serooskerken ES, Gallo G, Hulscher JB, Tytgat SH, and Lindeboom MY conceptualized and designed the study; van Tuyll van Serooskerken ES and Gallo G collected the data, carried out the initial analysis, drafted the initial manuscript; van Tuyll van Serooskerken ES, Gallo G, Weusten BL, Westerhof J, Brosens LA, Zwaveling S, Ruiterkamp J, Hulscher JB, Arets HG, Bittermann AJ, van der Zee DC, Tytgat SH, and Lindeboom MY reviewed and revised the manuscript; Hulscher JB, Tytgat SH, and Lindeboom MY contributed to the writing; Weusten BL, Westerhof J, Brosens LA, Hulscher JB, Tytgat SH, and Lindeboom MY supervised the data collection and the progress the manuscript; Weusten BL, Westerhof J, and Brosens LA provided input to the study; Zwaveling S, Ruiterkamp J, Arets HG, Bittermann AJ, and van der Zee DC reviewed the study design, supervised the process and contributed to the interpretation of data; and all authors approved the final manuscript as submitted and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Institutional review board statement: This study was part of a larger cohort study on the long-term outcome in LGEA patients. The study protocol was submitted to the UMCU Ethics Committee (METC 18-458/C). According to the Medical Research Involving Human Subject

Act, no ethical approval was required.

Informed consent statement: This study was part of a larger cohort study on the long-term outcome in LGEA patients. The study protocol was submitted to the UMCU Ethics Committee (METC 18-458/C). According to the Medical Research Involving Human Subject Act, no informed consent was required.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors report no relevant conflicts of interest for this article.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE statement, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE statement.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: Netherlands

ORCID number: Eleonora Sofie van Tuyll van Serooskerken 0000-0002-0017-2203; Gabriele Gallo 0000-0003-4534-6825; Maud YA Lindeboom 0000-0003-1222-1022.

S-Editor: Wang IJ L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang JJ

REFERENCES

- Sfeir R, Michaud L, Salleron J, Gottrand F. Epidemiology of esophageal atresia. Dis Esophagus 2013; 26: 354-355 [PMID: 23679022 DOI: 1 10.1111/dote.12051]
- 2 Holland AJ, Ron O, Pierro A, Drake D, Curry JI, Kiely EM, Spitz L. Surgical outcomes of esophageal atresia without fistula for 24 years at a single institution. J Pediatr Surg 2009; 44: 1928-1932 [PMID: 19853749 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2009.02.008]
- Ron O, De Coppi P, Pierro A. The surgical approach to esophageal atresia repair and the management of long-gap atresia: results of a survey. 3 Semin Pediatr Surg 2009; 18: 44-49 [PMID: 19103422 DOI: 10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2008.10.009]
- Puri P, Ninan GK, Blake NS, Fitzgerald RJ, Guiney EJ, O'Donnell B. Delayed primary anastomosis for esophageal atresia: 18 months' to 11 4 years' follow-up. J Pediatr Surg 1992; 27: 1127-1130 [PMID: 1403548 DOI: 10.1016/0022-3468(92)90573-P]
- 5 Puri P, Khurana S. Delayed primary esophageal anastomosis for pure esophageal atresia. Semin Pediatr Surg 1998; 7: 126-129 [PMID: 9597707 DOI: 10.1016/S1055-8586(98)70027-7]
- van der Zee DC, Vieirra-Travassos D, Kramer WL, Tytgat SH. Thoracoscopic elongation of the esophagus in long gap esophageal atresia. J 6 Pediatr Surg 2007; 42: 1785-1788 [PMID: 17923217 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2007.06.023]
- 7 van der Zee DC, Gallo G, Tytgat SH. Thoracoscopic traction technique in long gap esophageal atresia: entering a new era. Surg Endosc 2015; 29: 3324-3330 [PMID: 25669641 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-015-4091-3]
- Bogusz B, Patkowski D, Gerus S, Rasiewicz M, Górecki W. Staged Thoracoscopic Repair of Long-Gap Esophageal Atresia Without 8 Temporary Gastrostomy. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2018; 28: 1510-1512 [PMID: 30016196 DOI: 10.1089/lap.2018.0188]
- Foker JE, Linden BC, Boyle EM Jr, Marquardt C. Development of a true primary repair for the full spectrum of esophageal atresia. Ann Surg 9 1997; 226: 533-41; discussion 541 [PMID: 9351721 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199710000-00014]
- Kimura K, Soper RT. Multistaged extrathoracic esophageal elongation for long gap esophageal atresia. J Pediatr Surg 1994; 29: 566-568 10 [PMID: 8014818 DOI: 10.1016/0022-3468(94)90094-9]
- Spitz L. Gastric transposition for esophageal substitution in children. J Pediatr Surg 1992; 27: 252-7; discussion 257 [PMID: 1564626 DOI: 11 10.1016/0022-3468(92)90322-X
- Bax NM, van der Zee DC. Jejunal pedicle grafts for reconstruction of the esophagus in children. J Pediatr Surg 2007; 42: 363-369 [PMID: 12 17270550 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2006.10.009]
- Sherman CD Jr, Waterston D. Oesophageal reconstruction in children using intrathoracic colon. Arch Dis Child 1957; 32: 11-16 [PMID: 13 13403705 DOI: 10.1136/adc.32.161.11]
- Sulkowski JP, Cooper JN, Lopez JJ, Jadcherla Y, Cuenot A, Mattei P, Deans KJ, Minneci PC. Morbidity and mortality in patients with 14 esophageal atresia. Surgery 2014; 156: 483-491 [PMID: 24947650 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2014.03.016]
- Connor MJ, Springford LR, Kapetanakis VV, Giuliani S. Esophageal atresia and transitional care--step 1: a systematic review and meta-15 analysis of the literature to define the prevalence of chronic long-term problems. Am J Surg 2015; 209: 747-759 [PMID: 25605033 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2014.09.019
- Gallo G, Zwaveling S, Van der Zee DC, Bax KN, de Langen ZJ, Hulscher JB. A two-center comparative study of gastric pull-up and jejunal 16 interposition for long gap esophageal atresia. J Pediatr Surg 2015; 50: 535-539 [PMID: 25840058 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2014.05.026]
- 17 Orlando RC. Overview of the mechanisms of gastroesophageal reflux. Am J Med 2001; 111 Suppl 8A: 174S-177S [PMID: 11749946 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9343(01)00828-2]
- Gallo G, Vrijlandt EJLE, Arets HGM, Koppelman GH, Van der Zee DC, Hulscher JBF, Zwaveling S. Respiratory function after esophageal 18

replacement in children. J Pediatr Surg 2017; 52: 1736-1741 [PMID: 28365101 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2017.03.046]

- Schachter LM, Dixon J, Pierce RJ, O'Brien P. Severe gastroesophageal reflux is associated with reduced carbon monoxide diffusing capacity. 19 Chest 2003; 123: 1932-1938 [PMID: 12796170 DOI: 10.1378/chest.123.6.1932]
- Vergouwe FWT, IJsselstijn H, Biermann K, Erler NS, Wijnen RMH, Bruno MJ, Spaander MCW. High Prevalence of Barrett's Esophagus and 20 Esophageal Squamous Cell Carcinoma After Repair of Esophageal Atresia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 513-521.e6 [PMID: 29133255 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.11.008]
- Hannon E, Eaton S, Curry JI, Kiely EM, Spitz L, De Coppi P. Outcomes in adulthood of gastric transposition for complex and long gap 21 esophageal atresia. J Pediatr Surg 2020; 55: 639-645 [PMID: 31519362 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2019.08.012]
- Saeki M, Tsuchida Y, Ogata T, Nakano M, Akiyama H. Long-term results of jejunal replacement of the esophagus. J Pediatr Surg 1988; 23: 22 483-489 [PMID: 3379557 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3468(88)80454-8]
- Steves Ring W, Varco RL, L'Heureux PR, Foker JE. Esophageal replacement with jejunum in children: An 18 to 33 year follow-up. J Thorac 23 Cardiov Sur 1982; 83: 918-927 [DOI: 10.1016/S0022-5223(19)37190-9]
- Spitz L. Oesophageal atresia treatment: a 21st-century perspective. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2011; 52 Suppl 1: S12 [PMID: 21499034 24 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e3182116082]
- 25 Bax NMA, Rövekamp MH, Pull ter Gunne AJ, van der Zee DC. Early one-stage orthotopic jejunal pedicle-graft interposition in long-gap esophageal atresia. Pediatr Surg Int 1994; 9: 483-485 [DOI: 10.1007/BF00179446]
- Bax KM. Jejunum for bridging long-gap esophageal atresia. Semin Pediatr Surg 2009; 18: 34-39 [PMID: 19103420 DOI: 26 10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2008.10.007]
- 27 Lundell LR, Dent J, Bennett JR, Blum AL, Armstrong D, Galmiche JP, Johnson F, Hongo M, Richter JE, Spechler SJ, Tytgat GN, Wallin L. Endoscopic assessment of oesophagitis: clinical and functional correlates and further validation of the Los Angeles classification. Gut 1999; 45: 172-180 [PMID: 10403727 DOI: 10.1136/gut.45.2.172]
- 28 Sharma P, Dent J, Armstrong D, Bergman JJ, Gossner L, Hoshihara Y, Jankowski JA, Junghard O, Lundell L, Tytgat GN, Vieth M. The development and validation of an endoscopic grading system for Barrett's esophagus: the Prague C & M criteria. Gastroenterology 2006; 131: 1392-1399 [PMID: 17101315 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.08.032]
- Ijsselstijn H, van Beelen NW, Wijnen RM. Esophageal atresia: long-term morbidities in adolescence and adulthood. Dis Esophagus 2013; 26: 29 417-421 [PMID: 23679035 DOI: 10.1111/dote.12059]
- Koivusalo A, Suominen J, Salminen J, Pakarinen M. Indications, Surgical Complications, and Long-Term Outcomes in Pediatric Esophageal 30 Reconstructions with Pedicled Jejunal Interposition Graft. Eur J Pediatr Surg 2020; 30: 111-116 [PMID: 31893560 DOI: 10.1055/s-0039-3402713]
- Cauchi JA, Buick RG, Gornall P, Simms MH, Parikh DH. Oesophageal substitution with free and pedicled jejunum: short- and long-term 31 outcomes. Pediatr Surg Int 2007; 23: 11-19 [PMID: 17021741 DOI: 10.1007/s00383-006-1770-0]
- Rosen R, Vandenplas Y, Singendonk M, Cabana M, DiLorenzo C, Gottrand F, Gupta S, Langendam M, Staiano A, Thapar N, Tipnis N, 32 Tabbers M. Pediatric Gastroesophageal Reflux Clinical Practice Guidelines: Joint Recommendations of the North American Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition and the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2018; 66: 516-554 [PMID: 29470322 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.000000000001889]
- Baird DC, Harker DJ, Karmes AS. Diagnosis and Treatment of Gastroesophageal Reflux in Infants and Children. Am Fam Physician 2015; 92: 33 705-714 [PMID: 26554410]
- 34 Pultrum BB, Bijleveld CM, de Langen ZJ, Plukker JT. Development of an adenocarcinoma of the esophagus 22 years after primary repair of a congenital atresia. J Pediatr Surg 2005; 40: e1-e4 [PMID: 16338286 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2005.08.042]

E WO

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 September 16; 15(9): 564-573

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.564

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Prospective Study Endoscopic Ruler for varix size measurement: A multicenter pilot study

Yi-Fei Huang, Sheng-Juan Hu, Yang Bu, Yi-Ling Li, Yan-Hong Deng, Jian-Ping Hu, Shao-Qi Yang, Qian Shen, Mark McAlindon, Rui-Chun Shi, Xiao-Qin Li, Tie-Ying Song, Hai-Long Qi, Tai-Wei Jiao, Meng-Yuan Liu, Fang He, Jun Zhu, Bin Ma, Xiao-Bin Yu, Jian-Yang Guo, Yue-Hua Yu, Hai-Jiang Yong, Wen-Tun Yao, Ting Ye, Hua Wang, Wen-Fu Dong, Jian-Guo Liu, Qiang Wei, Jing Tian, Xiao-Guo Li, Xavier Dray, Xiao-Long Qi

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology	Yi-Fei Huang, Xiao-Guo Li, Institute of Portal Hypertension, The First Hospital of Lanzhou University, Lanzhou 730000, Gansu Province, China
Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.	Sheng-Juan Hu, Yang Bu, Yan-Hong Deng, Xiao-Bin Yu, Jian-Yang Guo, Department of Gastroenterology, People's Hospital of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, Ningxia Medical University Affiliated People's Hospital of Autonomous Region, Yinchuan 750000, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, China
Peer-review model: Single blind	Yi-Ling Li, Tai-Wei Jiao, Meng-Yuan Liu, Department of Gastroenterology, The First Affiliated
Peer-review report's scientific	Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang 110000, Liaoning Province, China
quality classification	lian-Ding Hu, Rin Ma, Yua-Hua Yu, Wan-Tun Yao, Ting Ya, Department of Gastroanterology
Grade A (Excellent): 0	Vinchuan First People's Hospital Vinchuan 750000 Ningvia Hui Autonomous Region China
Grade B (Very good): 0	Thendan Thst reoptes Hospital, Thendan 750000, Wilgzia Hur Autonomous Region, China
Grade C (Good): C, C, C	Shao-Qi Yang, Fang He, Department of Gastroenterology, Ningxia Medical University General
Grade D (Fair): 0	Hospital, Yinchuan 750000, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, China
Grade E (Poor): 0	
P-Reviewer: Kumar R. India:	Qian Shen, Department of Gastroenterology, Yinchuan Second People's Hospital, Yinchuan
Soldera I. Brazil	750000, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, China
Jonacia J, Diazii	Mark McAlindon, Academic Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Sheffield
Received: August 3, 2023	Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, AL 35660, Sheffield, United Kingdom
Peer-review started: August 3, 2023	
First decision: August 15, 2023	Rui-Chun Shi, Hai-Jiang Yong, Department of Gastroenterology, Wuzhong People's Hospital,
Revised: August 18, 2023	Wuzhong 751100, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, China
Accepted: September 1, 2023	Xiao-Qin Li Jun Zhu Hua Wang Wen-Fu Dong Department of Gastroenterology. The Fifth
Article in press: September 1, 2023	People's Hospital of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region. Shizuishan 753000. Ningxia Hui
Published online: September 16,	Autonomous Region. China
2023	
	Tie-Ying Song, Department of Second Gastroenterology, The Sixth People's Hospital of
国政制度》(国) 2019年1月1日	Shenyang, Shenyang 110000, Liaoning Province, China

Hai-Long Qi, Department of Gastroenterology, Shizuishan Second People's Hospital, Shizuishan 753000, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, China

Jian-Guo Liu, Qiang Wei, Jing Tian, Department of Gastroenterology, Zhongwei People's

Hospital, Zhongwei 755000, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, China

Xavier Dray, Department of Hepato-Gastroenterology, ETIS, ENSEA, CNRS, Sorbonne Université & APHP, Hôpital Saint Antoine, Université Paris-Seine, Université de Cergy-Pontoise, Paris 75012, Sélectionner, France

Xiao-Long Qi, Center of Portal Hypertension, Department of Radiology, Zhongda Hospital, Medical School, Southeast University, Nanjing 210000, Jiangsu Province, China

Corresponding author: Xiao-Long Qi, MD, Professor, Center of Portal Hypertension, Department of Radiology, Zhongda Hospital, Medical School, Southeast University, No.87 Dingjiaqiao, Gulou District Nanjing 210000, Jiangsu Province, China. qixiaolong@vip.163.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

We invented Endoscopic Ruler, a new endoscopic device to measure the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension.

AIM

To assess the feasibility and safety of Endoscopic Ruler, and evaluate the agreement on identifying large oesophageal varices (OV) between Endoscopic Ruler and the endoscopists, as well as the interobserver agreement on diagnosing large OV using Endoscopic Ruler.

METHODS

We prospectively and consecutively enrolled patients with cirrhosis from 11 hospitals, all of whom got esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) with Endoscopic Ruler. The primary study outcome was a successful measurement of the size of varices using Endoscopic Ruler. The secondary outcomes included adverse events, operation time, the agreement of identifying large OV between the objective measurement of Endoscopic Ruler and the empirical reading of endoscopists, together with the interobserver agreement on diagnosing large OV by Endoscopic Ruler.

RESULTS

From November 2020 to April 2022, a total of 120 eligible patients with cirrhosis were recruited and all of them underwent EGD examinations with Endoscopic Ruler successfully without any adverse event. The median operation time of Endoscopic Ruler was 3.00 min [interquartile range (IQR): 3.00 min]. The kappa value between Endoscopic Ruler and the endoscopists while detecting large OV was 0.52, demonstrating a moderate agreement. The kappa value for diagnosing large OV using Endoscopic Ruler among the six independent observers was 0.77, demonstrating a substantial agreement.

CONCLUSION

The data demonstrates that Endoscopic Ruler is feasible and safe for measuring the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. Endoscopic Ruler is potential to promote the clinical practice of the two-grade classification system of OV.

Key Words: Oesophageal varices; Cirrhosis; Portal hypertension; Esophagogastroduodenoscopy; Endoscopic ruler

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: We invented Endoscopic Ruler, a new endoscopic device to measure the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. This study demonstrates that Endoscopic Ruler is feasible and safe for measuring the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. Endoscopic Ruler is potential to promote the clinical practice of the two-grade classification system of oesophageal varices.

Citation: Huang YF, Hu SJ, Bu Y, Li YL, Deng YH, Hu JP, Yang SQ, Shen Q, McAlindon M, Shi RC, Li XQ, Song TY, Qi HL, Jiao TW, Liu MY, He F, Zhu J, Ma B, Yu XB, Guo JY, Yu YH, Yong HJ, Yao WT, Ye T, Wang H, Dong WF, Liu JG, Wei Q, Tian J, Li XG, Dray X, Qi XL. Endoscopic Ruler for varix size measurement: A multicenter pilot study. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2023; 15(9): 564-573

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i9/564.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.564

Raisbideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

INTRODUCTION

Oesophageal varices (OV) is a common complication among patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension[1]. The prevalence of OV is approximately 30%-40% and 85% in compensated and decompensated cirrhosis respectively[2]. Variceal haemorrhage is a potential lethal complication of OV with a six-week morality of 15%-25% [3]. Given the mortality and morbidity associated with variceal haemorrhage, esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) is recommended as a golden standard for the early detection and screening of high-risk OV in the current guidelines [1-4]. EGD screening is generally performed by endoscopists with different levels of experience. In the procedure, operators assess the locations and sizes of OV according to subjectivity. Therefore, accuracy and consistency in the classification of OV performed by endoscopists will have direct effect on subsequent management.

The recent Baveno VII consensus emphasizes a 2-grade classification system of OV followed from the management perspective[1] in which the varix size is quantitatively classified into either small (≤ 5 mm) or large (≥ 5 mm). This system was initially created by the North Italian Endoscopy Club, which found the high-risk features of variceal bleeding and was endorsed in the Baveno I consensus meeting in 1992[5,6]. However, this quantitative system is not widely used in clinical practice probably due to the following limitations: A doubtful accuracy due to varix size assessment demanding high-level experience in specialized centers; a lack of data on the interobserver agreement and reproducibility. To overcome these limitations, we invented Endoscopic Ruler, a novel endoscopic device to measure the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. The primary aim of this pilot study was to evaluate the feasibility and safety of Endoscopic Ruler. The secondary aim was to assess the agreement on detecting large OV between the objective measurement of Endoscopic Ruler and the empirical reading of endoscopists, as well as the interobserver reliability on identifying large OV using Endoscopic Ruler.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study patients and design

This study was a multicenter pilot study (CHESS2005, ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT04639323), in which we prospectively and consecutively recruited cirrhotic patients from 11 hospitals in China from November 2020 to April 2022. Inclusion criteria were: (1) Confirmed cirrhosis based on clinical, biochemical and radiology findings; (2) A schedule to undergo EGD screening; (3) Age between 18 and 75 years; and (4) A written informed consent. Patients were excluded for the following: Active upper gastrointestinal bleeding and without OV diagnosed via EGD (including isolated gastric varices).

The study protocol conformed to the ethical guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki, and was approved by the Institutional Review Board of principle research institutions. A written informed consent was obtained from all enrolled participant. All authors had an access to the study data and reviewed the final manuscript.

Endoscopic Ruler device and procedure

EGD examinations were performed using GIF-HQ290 (Olympus, Japan), GIF-H260Z (Olympus, Japan), or EG-601WR (FUJINON, Japan), with Endoscopic Ruler. Endoscopic Ruler consists of three parts: A tip, a sheath and an operating handle. The measurement range of Endoscopic Ruler is 1-10 mm. There are ten black alternating with white grids and the width of each grid is 1 mm (Figure 1). The procedures were carried out by one specific experienced endoscopist (have performed EGD examinations for more than 10 years and regularly performed endoscopic variceal ligation for at least 3 years) at individual centers. Ten to fifteen minutes before EGD, topical pharyngeal anaesthesia was applied to the posterior pharynx (dyclonine hydrochloride mucilage, 8-10 mL oral, 10 mL/dose; China).

An empirical interpretation of OV performed by endoscopists was prior to the measurement of Endoscopic Ruler and the results would be recorded by a specific recorder at individual centers. Endoscopic Ruler was inserted through the biopsy channel of EGD and with its tip kept in the sheath until the sheath was sent into the region of interest. Endoscopists controlled the direction of the tip according to the angle of EGD and the location of lesions to make Endoscopic Ruler parallel with the target OV (the largest one), and then the varix size was measured. After measurement, Endoscopic Ruler could be drawn out slowly with the tip shut (Figure 2). All major findings with and without Endoscopic Ruler were recorded on digital pictures.

Study outcomes

The primary outcome was the successful measurement of varix size using Endoscopic Ruler: From Endoscopic Ruler being sent into the region of interest, the largest OV being measured, to Endoscopic Rule being drawn out. Secondary outcomes were the safety, operation time of Endoscopic Ruler, agreement on diagnosing large OV between the empirical reading of endoscopists and the objective measurement using Endoscopic Ruler as well as interobserver reliability on diagnosing large OV using Endoscopic Ruler.

Safety was assessed according to adverse events associated with the procedures. Operation time was calculated from the time when Endoscopic Ruler was inserted through the biopsy channel of EGD to that when it was drawn out, which was recorded by recorders. Large OV was defined as those with the largest varix size $\geq 5mm[1]$. A total of 120 sets of pictures of the 120 patients enrolled with and without Endoscopic Ruler were digitally stored., ten of whom were randomly selected to explore the interobserver agreement. Six independent blinded observers excluding the endoscopists who recorded the procedures evaluated the selected records, including three experienced endoscopists who had performed EGDs more than ten years and regularly performed dedicated lists for variceal screening as well as endoscopic

Figure 1 Diagram of Endoscopic Ruler. A: The tip of Endoscopic Ruler; B: The structure of Endoscopic Ruler. 1: Tip; 2: Sheath; 3: Operating handle.

Figure 2 Measurement procedure of Endoscopic Ruler. A and B: The operating handle of Endoscopic Ruler (A) when the tip is shut (B); C and D: The operating handle of Endoscopic Ruler (C) when the tip is open (D).

variceal ligation and three inexperienced endoscopists who performed EGD for five to ten years but hadn't performed regular variceal screening or endoscopic variceal ligation.

Statistical analysis

Categorical data was expressed as numbers (percentages), and continuous variables were expressed as mean (standard deviation) or median (IQR). The agreement on diagnosing large OV between the empirical reading of endoscopists and the objective measurement using Endoscopic Ruler as well as the interobserver reliability on diagnosing large OV using Endoscopic Ruler were assessed according to the kappa value. Cohen's kappa was used in case of two observations (*i.e.* agreement between endoscopists and Endoscopic Ruler) and Fleiss kappa in case of more than two observations (*i.e.* interobserver reliability). Kappa values were considered as a slight agreement between 0 and 0.20, a fair agreement between 0.21 and 0.40, a moderate agreement between 0.41 and 0.60, a substantial agreement between 0.61 and 0.80 as well as an almost-perfect agreement between 0.81 and 1.00[7]. A *P* value of < 0.05 was considered significant. All statistical calculations were performed with R language (version 4.1.3, R Core Team, 2022).

Zaishideng® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

RESULTS

Study population

From November 2020 to April 2022, 122 patients with cirrhosis from 11 hospitals in China were recruited, two of whom with isolated gastric varices were excluded. There were 120 patients involved in the final analysis (mean age of 54.02 years; male 59.17%). Of them, the main etiology of cirrhosis was Hepatitis B virus infection (n = 82, 68.33%). The number of patients with Child-Pugh A, B, and C were 43 (35.83%), 59 (49.17%) and 18 (15.00%) respectively. Baseline characteristics of the enrolled patients were summarized in Table 1.

Feasibility, safety and operation time of Endoscopic Ruler

All the 120 patients underwent EGD examinations with Endoscopic Ruler successfully, without any adverse event (n = 0, 0%) related to EGD or Endoscopic Ruler. The median operation time of Endoscopic Ruler was 3.00 min (IQR: 3.00 min) (Table 2).

Agreement on detecting large OV between Endoscopic Ruler and endoscopists

Endoscopic Ruler detected large OV in 101 (84.17%) patients and endoscopists identified 94 large OV among them. In seven cases, the diagnosis of large OV by Endoscopic Ruler was not found by endoscopists. Endoscopic Ruler detected small OV in 19 (15.83%) patients and endoscopists identified small OV in 11 of them. In eight cases, the diagnosis of small OV by Endoscopic Ruler was not confirmed by endoscopists (Figure 3). The agreement between Endoscopic Ruler and endoscopists on diagnosing large OV was moderate, with a kappa value of 0.52 [95% confidence interval (95%CI): 0.31-0.73].

Interobserver reliability on detecting large OV

The agreement among the six independent observers on detecting large OV was substantial, with a kappa value of 0.77 (95%CI: 0.61-0.93). The kappa scores on detecting OV using Endoscopic Ruler were 0.71 (95%CI: 0.36-1.00) with a substantial agreement among the three experienced endoscopists, and the same [0.71 (95%CI: 0.36-1.00), P = 1.00] among the three inexperienced endoscopists, respectively (Table 3). The kappa score of the overall agreement on detecting OV through the empirical reading of endoscopists among six observers was 0.52 (95%CI: 0.36-0.68), demonstrating a moderate agreement, and it was significantly smaller than that using Endoscopic Ruler (P < 0.05). The kappa score on detecting OV by empirical reading of endoscopists was 0.57 (95%CI: 0.21-0.93) among the three experienced endoscopists, greater than that [0.40 (95%CI: 0.04-0.76)] among the three inexperienced ones (P < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

A careful endoscopic evaluation is one of the cornerstones for the full-course management of cirrhosis and portal hypertension as well as care of OV[8]. The application of the 2-grade classification system is recommended in the Baveno VII consensus, which has previously been validated as a predictor of variceal haemorrhage[1,2,5]. It is crucial to ensure that OV needing treatment is acted on if the present and accurate classification of small and large OV is the key. At present, the measurement of the varix size is mainly performed visually by endoscopists with subjectivity. Besides, biopsy forceps and other physical standards are applied in some trials but not clinical practice and the aforementioned methods are of a limited credibility and repeatability[9-11]. Shimoda *et al*[12] reported a virtual scale endoscope (VSE) to help estimate the size of colorectal lesions in real time during colonoscopy. However, its usefulness of VSE was evaluated in a virtual environment instead of actual clinical settings, nor was it applied to measure the size of varices[12]. Li *et al*[13] demonstrated a self-made virtual endoscopic measuring scale with a moderate accuracy but didn't conduct a clinical evaluation on its efficacy.

To our knowledge, the present study is the first to demonstrate a special-designed endoscopic device, Endoscopic Ruler, for varix size measurement in clinical trials. Endoscopic Ruler succeeds in measuring the varix size of all enrolled patients without any adverse event associated to the procedures. Endoscopic Ruler is feasible and safe for measuring varix size, meanwhile, its median operation time is only 3.00 minutes, which avoids significant increase of procedural time and complication risk[14].

The agreement analysis demonstrated a moderate agreement between the objective measurement of Endoscopic Ruler and the empirical reading of endoscopists on the diagnosis of large OV. However, there were seven (5.83%) large OV according to Endoscopic Ruler that was misdiagnosed as small OV by endoscopists and eight (6.67%) small OV according to Endoscopic Ruler that was wrongly diagnosed as large OV by endoscopists. That is, without any consideration for other high-risk factors of OV (red signs or Child-Pugh C), there might be 5.83% of patients misdiagnosed with non-highrisk OV, who would miss the primary prophylaxis of variceal bleeding; there might be 6.67% of patients wrongly diagnosed with high-risk OV, who might receive an overtreatment. Moreover, the overall kappa value on detecting OV among the six observers using Endoscopic Ruler was greater than that through the empirical reading of endoscopists (0.77 *vs.* 0.52, P < 0.05). The subjective nature of differentiating small OV from large OV remains a challenge for the 2grade classification varix system.

The interobserver reliability results suggested that Endoscopic Ruler decreased such discrepancies. Besides, our study revealed that the kappa values on detecting large OV using Endoscopic Ruler were similar with that performed by experienced endoscopists and inexperienced endoscopists (0.71 *vs.* 0.71, P = 1.00), while the kappa value on detecting OV through the empirical reading of endoscopists among experienced endoscopists was greater than that among inexper-

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of patients	
Parameters	Patients (<i>n</i> = 120)
Age (yr), mean (SD)	54.02 (11.90)
Sex <i>n</i> (%)	
Male	71 (59.16%)
Female	49 (40.83%)
Complication, <i>n</i> (%)	
Ascites	36 (30.00%)
Hepatocellular carcinoma	5 (4.17%)
Etiology, n (%)	
Hepatitis B infection	82 (68.33%)
Alcoholic liver disease	11 (9.17%)
Autoimmune	6 (5.00%)
Primary biliary cirrhosis	4 (3.33%)
Hepatitis C infection	2 (1.67%)
Others	15 (12.50%)
Child-Pugh Class, n (%)	
Class A	43 (35.83%)
Class B	59 (49.17%)
Class C	18 (15.00%)
Laboratory tests, median (IQR)	
Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L)	70.00 (59.75)
Alanine aminotransferase (U/L)	26.50 (21.10)
Aspartate aminotransferase (U/L)	32.00 (22.00)
Albumin (g/L)	34.04 (9.45)
Total bilirubin (µmol/L)	26.27 (23.90)
Prothrombin time (s)	14.25 (3.40)
Creatinine (µmol/L)	61.10 (21.35)

SD: Standard deviation; IQR: Interquartile range.

Table 2 The feasibility, safety, operation time of Endoscopic Ruler, and the agreement on diagnosing large oesophageal varices between endoscopists and Endoscopic Ruler

Outcome	Patients (<i>n</i> = 120)
Primary outcome	
Technical success of Endoscopic Ruler, <i>n</i> (%)	120 (100.00%)
Secondary outcomes	
Adverse events, n (%)	0 (0.00%)
Operation time (min), median (IQR)	3.00 (3.00)
Kappa value	0.52 (95%CI: 0.31- 0.73)

95% CI: 95% confidence interval; OV: Oesophageal varices; IQR: Interquartile range.

 Jaisbideng®
 WJGE
 https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 3 The interobserver reliability on detecting large oesophageal varices	s	
Assessment	Raters	Kappa value (95%Cl)
Objective measurement of Endoscopic Ruler		
All observes	6	0.77 (0.61-0.93)
Experienced endoscopists	3	0.71 (0.36-1.00)
Inexperienced endoscopists	3	0.71 (0.36-1.00)
Empirical reading of endoscopists		
All observes	6	0.52 (0.36-0.68)
Experienced endoscopists	3	0.57 (0.21-0.93)
Inexperienced endoscopists	3	0.40 (0.04-0.76)

95%CI: 95% confidence interval.

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.564 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 3 Representative examples of measurement of varix size by Endoscopic Ruler. A: Small varices by endoscopists (varix size = 3-4 mm); B: Large varices by Endoscopic Ruler (varix size = 5 mm).

ienced endoscopists (0.57 vs. 0.40, P < 0.05). That is, with the application of Endoscopic Ruler, the value of an experienced operator was weakened, and it might improve the management of patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension in non-tertiary hospitals without experienced endoscopists. Overall, Endoscopic Ruler might help to optimize the accuracy of the 2-grade classification system for OV followed from a management perspective.

Recently, non-invasive tools, such as Baveno VI criteria[1,15], the liver stiffness- spleen diameter to platelet ratio score [16], capsule endoscopy[17], and other emerging methods have been identified as complementary parameters of EGD to detect and screen high-risk OV[18-20]. However, the use of EGD interpretation by endoscopists as reference standard might bring bias due to the subjectivity and a lack of substantial agreement. Endoscopic Ruler might be used to normalize and promote the development of novel non-invasive methods for OV screening.

There were still some limitations. The sample size was limited. A well-designed real-world study of Endoscopic Ruler augmenting the sample size and introducing the follow-up and clinical data would be needed for its further popularization in clinical practice. In addition, although adverse events occurred in no procedures of the present study, Endoscopic Ruler had the potential risk to injure patients, such as mucosal damage during operation. Therefore, we improved Endoscopic Ruler according to endoscopists' experience as follows: (1) Enhancing the contrast of the scale at the tip for easy reading; (2) Shortening the scale range and shrinking the tip for retaining the function of detecting large OV as well as reducing the risk of adverse damage; (3) Adding a feature of synchronous rotation for more convenient practice; and (4) Optimizing the design of more smooth edge for reducing the risk of damage. Figure 4 shows the improved version of the structure.

Raisbidene® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.564 Copyright ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Diagram of improved Endoscopic Ruler. I: Clear scale; II: Shorter tip; III: Synchronous rotation; IV: More smooth edge.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, our study demonstrates that Endoscopic Ruler is feasible and safe for measuring the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension. Endoscopic Ruler is potential to promote the clinical practice of the twograde classification system of OV.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Esophagogastroduodenoscopy (EGD) screening is usually performed by endoscopists with different levels of experience, and the they assess the locations and size of oesophageal varices (OV) according to the subjectivity. The recent Baveno VII consensus emphasized 2-grade classification system of Ovs followed from a management perspective, and the 2-grade classification system quantitatively classifies varix size into either small (< 5 mm) or large (\geq 5 mm).

Research motivation

The quantitative system is not widely used in clinical practice probably due to following limitations: Doubtful accuracy due to varix size assessment demanding high level of experience in specialized centers; lack of data on the interobserver agreement and reproducibility. We invented Endoscopic Ruler, a new endoscopic device to measure the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension.

Research objectives

This study aims to assess the feasibility and safety of Endoscopic Ruler, and evaluate the agreement on identifying large OV between Endoscopic Ruler and the endoscopists, as well as the interobserver agreement on diagnosing large OV using Endoscopic Ruler.

Research methods

We prospectively and consecutively enrolled patients with cirrhosis from 11 hospitals, all of whom got EGD with Endoscopic Ruler. The primary study outcome was a successful measurement of the size of varices using Endoscopic Ruler. The secondary outcomes included adverse events, operation time, the agreement of identifying large OV between the objective measurement of Endoscopic Ruler and the empirical reading of endoscopists, together with the interobserver agreement on diagnosing large OV by Endoscopic Ruler.

Research results

From November 2020 to April 2022, a total of 120 eligible patients with cirrhosis were recruited and all of them underwent EGD examinations with Endoscopic Ruler successfully without any adverse event. The median operation time of Endoscopic Ruler was 3.00 min (IQR: 3.00 min). The kappa value between Endoscopic Ruler and the endoscopists while detecting large OV was 0.52, demonstrating a moderate agreement. The kappa value for diagnosing large OV using Endoscopic Ruler among the six independent observers was 0.77, demonstrating a substantial agreement.

Research conclusions

Endoscopic Ruler is feasible and safe for measuring the size of varices in patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension.

Research perspectives

Endoscopic Ruler weakened the value of an experienced operator and it might improve the management of patients with cirrhosis and portal hypertension in the non-tertiary hospitals without experienced endoscopist. Endoscopic Ruler might help to optimize the accuracy of the 2-grade classification system of OV followed from a management perspective. Endoscopic Ruler might normalize and promote development of novel non-invasive methods for OV screening.

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Qi XL designed the research; Huang YF, Hu SJ, Bu Y, Li YL, Deng YH, Hu JP, Yang SQ, Shi RC, Li XQ, Song TY, Qi HL, Shen Q, Jiao TW, Liu MY, He F, Zhu J, Ma B, Yu XB, Guo JY, Yu YH, Yong HJ, Yao WT, Ye T, Wang H, Dong WF, Liu JG, Wei Q, Tian J and Li XG collected the data; Huang YF analyzed the data; Huang YF Wrote the first draft; Qi XL, Dray X and McAlindon M revised the paper; Huang YF, Hu SJ, Bu Y, Li YL, Deng YH, Hu JP, Yang SQ, and Shen Q contributed equally to this work.

Institutional review board statement: The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of principle research institutions.

Clinical trial registration statement: This study is registered at https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/. The registration identification number is NCT04639323.

Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to study enrolment.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors declared no conflicts of interest related to this study.

Data sharing statement: Deidentified individual participant data will not be shared. Researchers can apply for data by submitting a proposal to the corresponding author.

CONSORT 2010 statement: The authors have read the CONSORT 2010 statement, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CONSORT 2010 statement.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Yi-Fei Huang 0000-0001-7596-9148; Yang Bu 0000-0003-0303-5607; Yi-Ling Li 0000-0003-3209-8105; Tai-Wei Jiao 0000-0002-7679-6354; Meng-Yuan Liu 0000-0002-5058-1558; Wen-Tun Yao 0000-0002-1209-7677; Ting Ye 0000-0003-3497-0737; Xavier Dray 0000-0002-4527-203X; Xiao-Long Qi 0000-0002-3559-5855.

S-Editor: Lin C L-Editor: A P-Editor: Cai YX

REFERENCES

- de Franchis R, Bosch J, Garcia-Tsao G, Reiberger T, Ripoll C; Baveno VII Faculty. Baveno VII Renewing consensus in portal hypertension. 1 J Hepatol 2022; 76: 959-974 [PMID: 35120736 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2021.12.022]
- Garcia-Tsao G, Abraldes JG, Berzigotti A, Bosch J. Portal hypertensive bleeding in cirrhosis: Risk stratification, diagnosis, and management: 2 2016 practice guidance by the American Association for the study of liver diseases. Hepatology 2017; 65: 310-335 [PMID: 27786365 DOI: 10.1002/hep.28906]
- 3 European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines for the management of patients with decompensated cirrhosis. J Hepatol 2018; 69: 406-460 [PMID: 29653741 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2018.03.024]
- Qi X, Berzigotti A, Cardenas A, Sarin SK. Emerging non-invasive approaches for diagnosis and monitoring of portal hypertension. Lancet 4 Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 3: 708-719 [PMID: 30215362 DOI: 10.1016/S2468-1253(18)30232-2]
- North Italian Endoscopic Club for the Study and Treatment of Esophageal Varices. Prediction of the first variceal hemorrhage in patients 5 with cirrhosis of the liver and esophageal varices. A prospective multicenter study. N Engl J Med 1988; 319: 983-989 [PMID: 3262200 DOI: 10.1056/NEJM198810133191505
- de Franchis R, Pascal JP, Ancona E, Burroughs AK, Henderson M, Fleig W, Groszmann R, Bosch J, Sauerbruch T, Soederlund C. 6 Definitions, methodology and therapeutic strategies in portal hypertension. A Consensus Development Workshop, Baveno, Lake Maggiore, Italy, April 5 and 6, 1990. J Hepatol 1992; 15: 256-261 [PMID: 1506645 DOI: 10.1016/0168-8278(92)90044-p]
- Viera AJ, Garrett JM. Understanding interobserver agreement: the kappa statistic. Fam Med 2005; 37: 360-363 [PMID: 15883903] 7
- Qi X, Huang Y, Pavlides M, Rockey DC. A community of portal hypertension. Hepatol Int 2021; 15: 575-578 [PMID: 33982265 DOI: 8

10.1007/s12072-021-10192-9]

- 9 Margulies C, Krevsky B, Catalano MF. How accurate are endoscopic estimates of size? Gastrointest Endosc 1994; 40: 174-177 [PMID: 8013817 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5107(94)70162-8]
- McMahon R. Error in estimates of size. Gastrointest Endosc 1994; 40: 779-780 [PMID: 7726941 DOI: 10.1016/S0016-5107(94)70139-3] 10
- 11 Fateen W, Ragunath K, White J, Khanna A, Coletta M, Samuel S, Ortiz J, James M, Wilkes E, Aithal GP, Guha IN, Sami SS. Validation of the AASLD recommendations for classification of oesophageal varices in clinical practice. Liver Int 2020; 40: 905-912 [PMID: 31762190 DOI: 10.1111/LIV.14310]
- 12 Shimoda R, Akutagawa T, Tomonaga M, Murano T, Shinmura K, Yoshioka M, Teramura Y, Kiyomi F, Ikematsu H. Estimating colorectal polyp size with a virtual scale endoscope and visual estimation during colonoscopy: Prospective, preliminary comparison of accuracy. Dig Endosc 2022; 34: 1471-1477 [PMID: 35594177 DOI: 10.1111/den.14351]
- 13 Li ZQ, Linghu EQ, Hu M, Wang XD, Wang HB, Meng JY, Du H. Endoscopic measurement of variceal diameter. World J Gastroenterol 2015; 21: 2140-2146 [PMID: 25717249 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i7.2140]
- Sun JH, Zhao H, Zhang H, Li L, Örmeci N, Yu ZN, Li X, Li S, Yang X, Wei H, Zhu X, Zhang Z, Wang Y, Zhao Z, Mao J, Wu Q, Sun X, 14 Xiang H, Jia K, Yang C, Wu W, Lin X, Yao H, Zuo C, Wang J, Zhang B, Zhang C, Wu X, Wang G, Yao S, Wang R, Zhou L, Huan H, Tu Q, Pu X, Zhang F, Yin Q, Zhang L, Guo Y, Kotani K, Uchida-Kobayashi S, Kawada N, Zhu H, Wang W, Zhang G, Yu L, Cui X, Zhu Q, Hu X, Ximenes RO, de Araújo AG, Gardenghi G, Zheng Y, Wu Z, Huang M, Chen X, Wu J, Xie F, Bo Y, Hu S, Ma L, Qi X. Tolerance and acceptance of hepatic venous pressure gradient measurement in cirrhosis (CHESS1904): An international multicenter study. Port Hypertens Cirrhos 2022; 1: 7-14 [DOI: 10.1002/poh2.4]
- de Franchis R; Baveno VI Faculty. Expanding consensus in portal hypertension: Report of the Baveno VI Consensus Workshop: Stratifying 15 risk and individualizing care for portal hypertension. J Hepatol 2015; 63: 743-752 [PMID: 26047908 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.05.022]
- Kim BK, Han KH, Park JY, Ahn SH, Kim JK, Paik YH, Lee KS, Chon CY, Kim DY. A liver stiffness measurement-based, noninvasive 16 prediction model for high-risk esophageal varices in B-viral liver cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2010; 105: 1382-1390 [PMID: 20087336 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2009.750]
- 17 Wang S, Huang Y, Hu W, Mao H, McAlindon ME, Liu Y, Yang L, Zhang C, Xu M, He C, Dang T, Wu B, Ji D, Zhang L, Mao X, Liu C, Xu D, Li Y, Li G, Han J, Lv F, Liang X, Jin S, Zhang S, Tai FWD, Xu Q, Yang C, Wang G, Wang L, Li B, Yang H, Xie P, Deng L, Ren L, Chang Z, Wang X, Wang S, Gao X, Li J, Zhu L, Wang F, Zhang G, Jiang X, Pan J, Meng W, Li X, Hou J, Dray X, Liao Z, Qi X. Detachable string magnetically controlled capsule endoscopy for detecting high-risk varices in compensated advanced chronic liver disease (CHESS1801): A prospective multicenter study. Lancet Reg Health West Pac 2021; 6: 100072 [PMID: 34327406 DOI: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2020.100072]
- Huang Y, Huang F, Yang L, Hu W, Liu Y, Lin Z, Meng X, Zeng M, He C, Xu Q, Xie G, Liu C, Liang M, Li X, Kang N, Xu D, Wang J, 18 Zhang L, Mao X, Yang C, Xu M, Qi X, Mao H. Development and validation of a radiomics signature as a non-invasive complementary predictor of gastroesophageal varices and high-risk varices in compensated advanced chronic liver disease: A multicenter study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 36: 1562-1570 [PMID: 33074566 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.15306]
- 19 Li X, Kang N, Qi X, Huang Y. Artificial intelligence in the diagnosis of cirrhosis and portal hypertension. J Med Ultrason (2001) 2022; 49: 371-379 [PMID: 34787742 DOI: 10.1007/s10396-021-01153-8]
- Miao L, Targher G, Byrne CD, Valenti L, Qi X, Zheng MH. Portal hypertension in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: Challenges and 20 perspectives. Port Hypertens Cirrhos 2022; 1: 57-65 [DOI: 10.1002/poh2.8]

E WJ

World Journal of *Gastrointestinal* Endoscopy

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Gastrointest Endosc 2023 September 16; 15(9): 574-583

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.574

ISSN 1948-5190 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Comparison of trans-gastric vs trans-enteric (trans-duodenal or trans-jejunal) endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage using lumen apposing metal stents

Dheera Grover, Ifrah Fatima, Murali Dharan

Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology	Dheera Grover , Department of Internal Medicine, University of Connecticut, Farmington, CT 06030, United States
Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer	lfrah Fatima, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Missouri-Kansas City, Kansas City, MO 64110, United States
reviewed.	Murali Dharan, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, CT 06030, United States
Peer-review report's scientific quality classification Grade A (Excellent): 0	Corresponding author: Murali Dharan, AGAF, FASGE, MRCP, Assistant Professor, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University of Connecticut Health Center, 263 Farmington Avenue, Farmington, CT 06030, United States. dharan@uchc.edu
Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C, C Grade D (Fair): 0	Abstract
Grade E (Poor): E	BACKGROUND Endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage (EUS-GBD) is being
P-Reviewer: Guardado A, Spain; Wani I, India; Zharikov YO, Russia	increasingly used in practice (either as a bridge to cholecystectomy in high-risk patients or as destination therapy in non-surgical patients). Stents are used to
Received: March 20, 2023 Peer-review started: March 20, 2023 First decision: June 19, 2023 Revised: July 25, 2023	create a conduit between the lumen of the galibladder (GB) and the intestinal lumen through the gastric or enteric routes. Among the various types of stents used, cautery-enhanced lumen apposing metallic stents (LAMS) may be associated with fewer adverse events (AEs).
Accepted: August 23, 2023 Article in press: August 23, 2023 Published online: September 16, 2023	<i>AIM</i> To compare the clinical success, technical success, and rate of AEs between transgastric (TG) and trans-enteric [transduodenal (TD)/transjejunal (TJ)] approach to GB drainage. Further, we analyzed whether using cautery enhanced stents during EUS-GBD impacts the above parameters.

METHODS

Study was registered in PROSPERO (CRD42022319019) and comprehensive literature review was conducted. Manuscripts were reviewed for the data collection: Rate of AEs, clinical success, and technical success. Random effects model was utilized for the analysis.

RESULTS

No statistically significant difference in clinical and technical success between the

TD/TJ and TG approaches (P > 0.05) were noted. There was no statistically significant difference in the rate of AEs when comparing two-arm studies only. However, when all studies were included in the analysis difference was almost significant favoring the TD/TJ approach. When comparing cautery-enhanced LAMS with non-cautery enhanced LAMS, a statistically significant difference in the rate of AEs was observed when all the studies were included, with the rate being higher in non-cautery enhanced stents (14.0% vs 37.8%; P < 0.01).

CONCLUSION

As per our study results, TD/TJ approach appears to be associated with lower rate of adverse events and comparable efficacy when compared to the TG approach for the EUS-GBD. Additionally, use of cautery-enhanced LAMS for EUS-GBD is associated with a more favorable adverse event profile compared to cold LAMS. Though the approach chosen depends on several patient and physician factors, the above findings could help in deciding the ideal drainage route when both TG and TD/TJ approaches are feasible.

Key Words: Transduodenal; Transgastric; Cautery; Endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage; AXIOS

©The Author(s) 2023. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage (EUS-GBD) is increasingly used in management of gallbladder disease. EUS-GBD can be achieved using trans-gastric or trans-enteric (trans-duodenal or trans-jejunal) approach There are currently no randomized controlled trials comparing these two approaches. We performed a meta-analysis of the existing literature on EUS guided gallbladder drainage. Trans-enteric approach was observed to have a more favorable safety profile compared to trans-gastric approach. Further use of cautery enhanced lumen apposing metallic stents (LAMS) to achieve EUS-guided GBD was associated with lesser adverse effects when compared to use of non-cautery enhanced (cold) LAMS.

Citation: Grover D, Fatima I, Dharan M. Comparison of trans-gastric *vs* trans-enteric (trans-duodenal or trans-jejunal) endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage using lumen apposing metal stents. *World J Gastrointest Endosc* 2023; 15(9): 574-583 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5190/full/v15/i9/574.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.574

INTRODUCTION

Acute cholecystitis is an acute inflammation of the gall bladder (GB) characterized by the clinical syndrome of right upper quadrant pain, fever, and leukocytosis. The primary underlying etiology is gallstones, but 5%-10% of cases may be due to acalculous cholecystitis[1]. Open or laparoscopic cholecystectomy is the definitive treatment; however, many patients with acute cholecystitis are not good surgical candidates due to comorbidities. Percutaneous gallbladder drainage (PT-GBD) has emerged as an alternative but is limited by complications such as recurrent cholecystitis, bile peritonitis, puncture-induced hemorrhage, drain site pain, and infection[2]. PT-GBD is a temporizing treatment modality that can be a bridge to surgery until patient's clinical status to improves. Often patients are unable to undergo surgery and are left with a permanent percutaneous drain[3,4].

Endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage (EUS-GBD) is a minimally invasive alternative to PT-GBD. It is preferred due to its comparable clinical and technical success and minimal adverse events (AEs)[5]. Even though EUS-GBD initially was an alternative to surgery, the current indications have expanded to include: Destination therapy in poor surgical candidates, bridging to cholecystectomy, conversion of PT-GBD to EUS-GBD, alternative to failed PT-GBD or failed ET-GBD (endoscopic trans-papillary GBD) or alterative to failed EUS-guided biliary drainage (EUS-BD)[3]. Drainage of the GB is done by either transduodenal (TD)/transjuojenal (TJ) or transgastric (TG) approach. This allows for decompression of the GB by bypassing the obstruction. The best transluminal access to achieve gallbladder drainage has not been well established. In addition, there is limited literature comparing trans-gastric and trans-enteric (TD/TJ) approaches for EUS-GBD[6-8]. With the increasing use of EUS-GBD, it becomes important to ascertain the best transluminal approach to gallbladder drainage. Hence, we undertook a study to analyze the available evidence on this topic.

EUS-GBD can be achieved using plastic stents, self-expandable metal stents (SEMS) and lumen apposing metallic stents (LAMS). LAMS maintains a strong seal, reducing the risk of bile leakage and stent migration. Hence, LAMS is ideal for EUS-GBD[9-11]. The novel cautery-enhanced LAMS (hot) is being increasingly used and has the advantage of completing the procedure in one step without additional exchanges and reducing the need for fluoroscopic assistance compared to non-cautery enhanced (cold) LAMS[12,13]. The design of the stent with flares at both ends may mitigate risk of stent migration[14]. Our study aimed to compare the clinical success, technical success, and rate of AEs between the approaches used for the site of puncture and the type of LAMS used for EUS-GBD.

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was registered in The International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO), and a comprehensive literature search was done on PubMed, Embase, Scopus, CENTRAL, CINAHL, and Web of Science. The literature search was done using words: "Ultrasonography", "Endosonography", "Endosonograph", "Endosonograph", "Endosonograph", "Endosonograph", "Endosonograph", "Endosonograph", "Gallbladder diseases", "lamen apposing metal stent", "LAMS", "transgastric", "transduodenal", hot" or "cold" AND "Gallbladder diseases", Gallbladder", "biliary", "cholecyst", AND "drainage", "drain". The references of the included studies were thoroughly reviewed. In total, 3707 studies were screened. For the comparison of TG and TD/TJ approach, twenty-four met the inclusion criteria (Figure 1). The inclusion criteria included randomized or nonrandomized controlled clinical trials and prospective and retrospective studies. Due to a lack of data, abstracts presented at conferences and case series (with four or more patients) were also included in the study. Reviews, meta-analyses, animal studies, letters from the editor, case reports, opinion articles, and editorials were not included. The other exclusion criteria included animal studies and studies in languages other than English. No age and gender restrictions were applied. A post-hoc analysis was done to compare the cautery-enhanced (hot) vs non-cautery enhanced approach and only twelve studies met the abovementioned inclusion criteria (Figure 2). Manuscripts were reviewed for the data collection: Rate of AEs, clinical success, and technical success. The search was conducted again couple of days prior to the submission of this manuscript for the emerging data. Random effects models were estimated using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis (Biostat Inc.) software. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

The analysis was done using two methods. Method 1 included analysis of studies with patients in both arms only and method 2 included analyses of ALL studies. Due to limited data, we could not analyze the baseline characteristics and specific AEs. In the majority of the studies, technical success was defined as adequate access and drainage of the GB with the placement of the LAMS stent. Clinical success was described as a decline in serum bilirubin levels in patients with obstructive jaundice to 10% of the initial levels and improvement of cholestatic parameters in those without jaundice.

TG vs TD/TJ

Analyses were done by two methods. Pooled odds ratios for AE, clinical success and technical success were calculated (Table 1, Figure 3).

Method 1: Analysis of studies with patients in both arms only. TG vs TD/TJ: Pooled odds ratio (95% confidence interval), P value: AEs (6 studies): 1.58 (0.46-5.45), P = 0.47; clinical success (3 studies): 0.30 (0.06-1.48), P = 0.14; and technical success (3 studies): 0.30 (0.05-1.89), *P* = 0.20.

Method 2: Analysis of all studies (in total 15 using TD/TJ approach and 9 using TG approach). TG vs TD/TJ: AEs (Studies: 9 vs 15): 27.5% (17.1%-41.1%) vs 15.2% (9.5%-23.6%), P = 0.07; clinical success (Studies: 6 vs 13): 83.3% (71.0%-91.0%) vs 91.7% (82.4%-96.3%), P = 0.16; and technical success (Studies: 9 vs 15): 91.3% (83.6%-95.6%) vs 95.3% (90.7%-97.7%), P = 0.22.

Cautery enhanced vs non-cautery enhanced LAMS

Analyses were done by two methods. Pooled odds ratios for AE, clinical success and technical success were calculated (Table 2, Figure 4).

Method 1: Analysis of studies with patients in both arms only. Cautery-enhanced vs non-cautery enhanced-pooled odds ratio (95% confidence interval); *P* value: AEs (2 studies): 0.55 (0.19-1.64), *P* = 0.28; clinical success (2 studies): 1.81 (0.50 to 6.61; P = 0.37). There was only one study that compared the technical success of both the arms.

Method 2: Including all the studies (in total 9 using cautery-enhanced LAMS and 3 using non-cautery enhanced LAMS). Cautery-enhanced vs non-cautery-enhanced-pooled percentage (IQR), P value: AEs (Studies: 9 vs 3): 14% (9.1%-21.0%) vs 37.8% (26.5%-50.6%), $P \le 0.001$; Clinical success (Studies: 11 vs 3): 89.9% (86.1%-92.7%) vs 93.4% (72.8%-90.3%), P = 0.12, and technical success (Studies: 11 vs 3): 94.4% (91.3%-96.4%) vs 93.8% (86.3% vs 97.3%), P = 0.82.

DISCUSSION

Traditionally, early laparoscopic cholecystectomy is the gold standard treatment for cholecystitis[1,13]. In patients who are poor surgical candidates due to comorbidities, conservative management or percutaneous drainage of the GB is recommended. In the CHOCOLATE trial, for patients with a high APACHE II score, urgent laparoscopic cholecystectomy was associated with a reduced hospital length of stay, complications, and reinterventions compared to percutaneous drainage[15]. Hence, patients with cholecystitis should undergo cholecystectomy even in emergent conditions if well tolerated. Cholecystectomy has the additional advantage of obviating the future risk of recurrent cholecystitis.

Recent studies have reported EUS-GBD as a minimally invasive alternative to percutaneous drainage for cholecystitis in patients who are poor surgical candidates[16]. EUS-GBD has been studied for technical success, clinical success, and

Table 1 Comparison of rate of adverse events, clinical success and technical success between the approaches according to puncture site (transduodenal/transjejunal vs transgastric)

	<i>n</i> of studies	Pooled odds ratio (TG vs TD/TJ) or AE (%)	95%CI	P value			
Method 1: Including studies with patients in both arms only							
Adverse events	6	1.58	0.46-5.45	0.47			
Clinical success	3	0.30	0.06-1.48	0.14			
Technical success	3	0.30	0.05-1.89	0.20			
Method 2: Including all studies							
Adverse events	9 vs 15	27.5% vs 15.2%	(17.1%-41.1%) vs (9.5%-23.6%)	0.07			
Clinical success	6 vs 13	83.3% vs 91.7%	(71.0%-91.0%) vs (82.4%-96.3%)	0.16			
Technical success	9 vs 15	91.3% vs 95.6%	(83.6%-95.6%) vs 90.7%-97.7%)	0.22			

TG vs TD/TJ: Transduodenal/transjejunal vs transgastric; AE: Adverse event; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

Table 2 Comparison of the parameters between cautery-enhanced and non-cautery enhanced approaches for endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage

	<i>n</i> of studies (cautery-enhanced <i>vs</i> non- cautery enhanced)	Pooled odds ratio (cautery-enhanced vs non- cautery enhanced) or AEs (%)	95%CI	P value
Method 1: Incl	uding studies with patients in both arms only			
Adverse events	2	0.55	0.19-1.64	0.28
Clinical success	2	1.81	0.50-6.61	0.37
Method 2: Incl	uding all studies			
Adverse events	9 vs 3	14.0% vs 37.8%	(9.1%-21.0%) <i>vs</i> (26.5%- 50.6%)	0
Clinical success	11 vs 3	89.9% vs 93.4%	(86.1%-92.7%) vs (72.8%-90.3%)	0.12
Technical success	11 vs 3	94.4% vs 93.8%	26.5%-50.6%	0.82

AE: Adverse event; 95% CI: 95% confidence interval.

rate of AEs comparable to standard percutaneous techniques with decreased tube-related complications, including tube dislodgement, migration, obstruction and peri-tubal leakage [2,16,17]. In a meta-analysis by Luk et al [17], EUS-GBD was reported to have comparable technical and clinical success; however, EUS-GBD was associated with lower postprocedure adverse events, shorter hospital stays, and fewer reinterventions and readmissions compared to PT-GBD.

The efficacy and feasibility of EUS-GBD using different stents, including plastic stents, SEMS, and LAMS has been well documented [7,18-20]. Stent placement can result in complications such as stent migration, occlusion, bleeding, bile leak and pneumoperitoneum and associated morbidity. Plastic double pigtail stents are commonly associated with bile leaks, bile peritonitis and stent migration. SEMS provides the advantage of longer stent patency and prevents bile leakage but risk of stent migration remains. Both plastic stents and SEMS do not maintain apposition to seal the gap and reliably form a fistula. LAMS is considered an ideal stent due to its ability to make a firm seal with decreased complications [7,9,14].

The drainage of the GB is done by creating a cholecysto-enteric communication, via either TD/TJ or TG approach under the endoscopic/endosonographic guidance. In the TD approach, the retro-peritoneal duodenum is relatively immobile and thus provides a stable access site to the neck of GB which is the puncture site in this approach[6]. In addition, the inflamed GB wall may become adherent to the wall of the duodenum/jejunum lending further stability for access. Compared to stomach, the wall of duodenum/jejunum has less peristaltic activity which may decrease the risk of stent migration and stent occlusion due to tissue overgrowth[6,7]. Potential for reflux of food contest into the gallbladder may be lesser with TD approach resulting in reduced risk of stent occlusion or infection related to reflux [6,7]. The flow of food into the biliary system during EUS-GBD can lead to cholangitis or obstructive jaundice by occluding the stent. Due to the above reasons, TD/TJ is thought to be a safer option, but it has several limitations [6,7]. One of the limitations is the technical difficulty in accessing the neck of the GB, the puncture site in the TD/TJ approach. With TG approach the access

Diskidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

Figure 1 PRISMA flow diagram. PRISMA flow diagram elucidating screening and selection studies for comparison of transduodenal/transjejunal vs transgastric approaches.

point is usually the gallbladder body which provides a larger landing zone for deployment of the inner flange of the lumen apposing metal stent[6].

The thicker wall of the stomach may have larger perforating blood vessels (as compared to the duodenum) which can increase the risk of bleeding during transluminal access of the gallbladder. Management of delayed AEs may be easier with TG approach as the stomach is more accessible at laparoscopy compared to the duodenal bulb and thicker gastric wall permits more reliable wound closure[6]. Our study aimed to compare the clinical success, technical success, and rate of AEs between the approaches used for the site of puncture, *i.e.*, TD/TJ *vs* TG.

Our meta-analysis showed no statistically significant difference in the clinical and technical success between the TD/TJ and TG approaches. In addition, we did not observe any statistically significant difference in the rate of AEs when comparing the two-arm studies only; however, the difference was almost significant (TG *vs* TD/TJ: 27.5% *vs* 15.2%, P = 0.07) when all the studies were analyzed with higher rates of AE noted with the TG approach. The commonly noted AEs with EUS-GBD include stent migration, stent occlusion, biliary peritonitis, pneumoperitoneum and recurrence of cholecystitis due to food impaction[18].

We also analyzed the above outcomes when deploying the cautery-enhanced (hot) *vs* non-cautery enhanced (cold) LAMS for EUS-GBD. The cautery-enhanced LAMS is a novel, fully covered, self-expanding stent with an electrocautery-enhanced delivery system ideal for EUS-GBD. Due to its "all-in-one" nature, the direct introduction of the device into the GB without prior placement of a guidewire eliminates the need for multiple steps and accessory exchanges[9]. The one step procedure with cautery-enhanced (hot) LAMS decreases the procedure time and the need for fluoroscopic assistance. The complications are further decreased by the hemostatic effect of cautery and absence of need for tract dilation likely reduces risk of bleeding and bile leak[12,13]. Deployment of non-cautery enhanced (cold) LAMS is wire guided and carries the risk of loss of wire access and attendant problems which do not apply to cautery enhanced LAMS. Hence, the cautery-enhanced LAMS is expected to have lesser rate of AEs as compared to non-cautery enhanced.

In our study, we did not observe any significant difference in the technical and clinical success between the cautery enhanced and non-cautery enhanced LAMS in EUS-GBD. No significant difference was observed in the rate of AEs between the two approaches when studies with both arms only were analyzed; however, a significant difference (P < 0.01) was noted in the rate of AEs when all the studies were included in the analysis, with the AEs being higher in non-cautery enhanced compared to cautery-enhanced LAMS.

There are several limitations to our study. The number of included studies was small due to data sparsity; thus, the results of this study might be underpowered. Additionally, the studies were done at several different centers, and the heterogeneity amongst various centers weakens the reliability of the results. Furthermore, since the number of studies was less than 10, publication bias is difficult to address. In addition to publication bias, selection bias, lead-time bias, and

Figure 2 PRISMA flow diagram elucidating the screening and selection of studies for comparison or cautery-enhanced vs non-cautery enhanced approaches.

confounding factors cannot be excluded. Several studies reported their experience with EUS-GBD but did not aim to compare TD/TV vs TG approaches. With first method of analyzing studies with both arms, we were able to compare TD/ TJ approach vs TG approach by the same operator. This helped reduce performance bias and data heterogeneity. However, these studies were not conducted with the primary aim of comparing both approaches. Some of the findings from our analysis did not reach statistical significance due to data sparsity. When we used the second method and included all studies in our analysis, due to the increase in available data, some findings were statistically significant. However (as some case series reported one approach only and pooled data included multiple operators) the analyzed data was quite heterogeneous. Given the sparse data and heterogeneity of the data we are unable to perform GRADE analysis and make recommendations based on GRADE methodology. Sufficiently powered randomized control trial should be done to compare the clinical outcomes of TD/TJ vs TG approach. Given the significantly reduced procedure time and ease of deployment of cautery enhanced LAMS for EUS-GBD, it is unlikely that a randomized controlled trial will be conducted to compare cautery enhanced vs and non-cautery enhanced LAMS to validate our findings.

CONCLUSION

Based on our study findings, cautery-enhanced LAMS deployment appears safer than non-cautery enhanced stent deployment for EUS-GBD. The TD/TJ approach may be associated with a more favorable AE profile with equal efficacy when compared to TG approach for EUS-GBD. While decision regarding approach to trans-luminal GB drainage depends on endoscopist preference and patient-specific anatomic considerations such as proximity of GB to the gastrointestinal tract lumen, it would be helpful to know which approach (trans-gastric vs trans-duodenal) has a favorable AEs profile especially when both approaches are feasible in a given patient. If EUS-GBD is a bridge to cholecystectomy, surgery appears feasible with both TG and TD/TJ approaches[21,22] but data regarding preferred approach is lacking[6].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Marissa Iverson was responsible for the literature search and PRISMA flow sheet.

Figure 3 Forrest plot. A-C: Forrest plot illustrating the comparison of rate of adverse events (A), clinical success (B), and technical success (C) between transduodenal/transjejunal vs transgastric approaches including studies with patients in both arms only (method 1). TG vs TD/TJ: Transduodenal/transjejunal vs transgastric; 95% Cl: 95% confidence interval.

WJGE https://www.wjgnet.com

155

A Model Study name			Statistics for each study			Odds ratio and 95%CI					
			Odds ratio	Lower limit	Upper <i>P</i> limit	value					
		Teoh et. Al	0.471	0.090	2.469	0.373		\vdash		• T -	
		Shah et. Al	0.627	0.149	2.642	0.525		-		-	
	Rando	m	0.555	0.187	1.643	0.287					
							0.01	0.1	1	10	100
С	ompariso	n of rate of AEs									
							Favo	ours clo	bd	Favours	; hot
В	Mode	I Study name	Sta	Statistics for each study			Odds ratio and 95%CI				
			Odd rati	ls Lowe o limit	er Upper limit	P value					
		Teoh et. Al	3.138	0.164	60.213	0.448	1	1-	+		- [
		Shah et. Al	1.594	0.379	6.711	0.525			⊣∎	_	
Random		1.814	0.498	6.609	0.366			-			
							0.01	0.1	1	10	100

Comparison of clinical success

Favours clod Favours hot

DOI: 10.4253/wjge.v15.i9.574 **Copyright** ©The Author(s) 2023.

Figure 4 Forrest plot. A and B: Forrest plot illustrating the comparison of parameters between cautery enhanced (hot) vs non-cautery enhanced (cold) approaches including with studies with patients in both arms only (method 1). AEs: Adverse events; 95%CI: 95% confidence interval.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Adequately powered RCTS are need to confirm the findings in our retrospective study.

Research motivation

Transduodenal endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage (EUS-GBD) appeard to be safer than transgastric drainage. Hot lumen apposing metallic stents (LAMS) is better than cold LAMS.

Research objectives

As per out study transduodenal approach appeared to have a more favorable adverse event (AE) profile with comparable technical and clinical success when compared to transgastric approach. Cautery enhanced LAMS has a more favorable AE and shorter procedure time than cold LAMS.

Research methods

Literature search was done using PubMed, Embase, Scopus, CENTRAL, CINAHL, and Web of Science database. The inclusion criteria included randomized or nonrandomized controlled clinical trials and prospective and retrospective studies. Due to a lack of data, abstracts presented at conferences and case series (with four or more patients) were also included in the study. Reviews, meta-analyses, animal studies, letters from the editor, case reports, opinion articles, and editorials were not included. The other exclusion criteria included animal studies and studies in languages other than English. No age and gender restrictions were applied. A post-hoc analysis was done to compare the cautery-enhanced (hot) *vs* non-cautery enhanced approach and only twelve studies met the above-mentioned inclusion criteria. Manuscripts were reviewed for the data collection: Rate of AEs, clinical success, and technical success. The search was conducted again couple of days prior to the submission of this manuscript for the emerging data. Random effects models were estimated using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis (Biostat Inc.) software. A *P* value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Research results

Compare trans-gastric *vs* trans-enteric EUS-GBD based on available literature. Compare AE profile, technical success and clinical success of both approaches. As a secondary outcome compare cautery enhanced LAMS use *vs* non-cautery enhanced (cold) LAMS.

Research conclusions

Identify if any transgastric or transenteric EUS-GBD is better based on existing literature.

Research perspectives

EUS-GB being increasingly used either as bridge to cholecystectomy or as destination therapy. GB can be accessed by transgastric or transenteric route. However, it is unclear if one approach is better than the other.

Zaishidena® WJGE | https://www.wjgnet.com

FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Grover D and Fatima I contributed to literature search, literature inclusion for the study, and drafting of article; Dharan M contributed to conceptualization of research, literature search, critical revision of article and rewriting the discussions.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All co-authors of this manuscript confirm that there are no financial or personal relationships with any people or organizations that could inappropriately influence the actions of any author of this manuscript.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Dheera Grover 0000-0003-3616-7841; Ifrah Fatima 0000-0002-6356-6859; Murali Dharan 0000-0002-9764-0068.

Corresponding Author's Membership in Professional Societies: American Gastroenterological Association.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Chen YL

REFERENCES

- 1 Gallaher JR, Charles A. Acute Cholecystitis: A Review. JAMA 2022; 327: 965-975 [PMID: 35258527 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2022.2350]
- Molina H, Chan MM, Lewandowski RJ, Gabr A, Riaz A. Complications of Percutaneous Biliary Procedures. Semin Intervent Radiol 2021; 38: 2 364-372 [PMID: 34393347 DOI: 10.1055/s-0041-1731375]
- 3 Posner H, Widmer J. EUS guided gallbladder drainage. Transl Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 5: 41 [PMID: 32632392 DOI: 10.21037/tgh.2019.12.20]
- James TW, Baron TH. EUS-guided gallbladder drainage: A review of current practices and procedures. Endosc Ultrasound 2019; 8: S28-S34 4 [PMID: 31897376 DOI: 10.4103/eus.eus_41_19]
- Podboy A, Yuan J, Stave CD, Chan SM, Hwang JH, Teoh AYB. Comparison of EUS-guided endoscopic transpapillary and percutaneous 5 gallbladder drainage for acute cholecystitis: a systematic review with network meta-analysis. Gastrointest Endosc 2021; 93: 797-804.e1 [PMID: 32987004 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.09.040]
- 6 Perez-Miranda M. Technical considerations in EUS-guided gallbladder drainage. Endosc Ultrasound 2018; 7: 79-82 [PMID: 29667620 DOI: 10.4103/eus.eus_5_18]
- Walter D, Teoh AY, Itoi T, Pérez-Miranda M, Larghi A, Sanchez-Yague A, Siersema PD, Vleggaar FP. EUS-guided gall bladder drainage 7 with a lumen-apposing metal stent: a prospective long-term evaluation. Gut 2016; 65: 6-8 [PMID: 26041748 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309925]
- 8 Teoh AYB, Serna C, Penas I, Chong CCN, Perez-Miranda M, Ng EKW, Lau JYW. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided gallbladder drainage reduces adverse events compared with percutaneous cholecystostomy in patients who are unfit for cholecystectomy. Endoscopy 2017; 49: 130-138 [PMID: 27875855 DOI: 10.1055/s-0042-119036]
- van der Merwe SW, van Wanrooij RLJ, Bronswijk M, Everett S, Lakhtakia S, Rimbas M, Hucl T, Kunda R, Badaoui A, Law R, Arcidiacono 9 PG, Larghi A, Giovannini M, Khashab MA, Binmoeller KF, Barthet M, Perez-Miranda M, van Hooft JE. Therapeutic endoscopic ultrasound: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline. Endoscopy 2022; 54: 185-205 [PMID: 34937098 DOI: 10.1055/a-1717-1391]
- Manta R, Mutignani M, Galloro G, Conigliaro R, Zullo A. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided gallbladder drainage for acute cholecystitis with a 10 lumen-apposing metal stent: a systematic review of case series. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 30: 695-698 [PMID: 29578866 DOI: 10.1097/MEG.000000000001112
- 11 Kalva NR, Vanar V, Forcione D, Bechtold ML, Puli SR. Efficacy and Safety of Lumen Apposing Self-Expandable Metal Stents for EUS Guided Cholecystostomy: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 2018: 7070961 [PMID: 29850458 DOI: 10.1155/2018/7070961]
- Teoh AY, Perez-Miranda M, Kunda R, Lee SS, Irani S, Yeaton P, Baron TH, Sun S, Rerknimitr R, Moon JH, Holt B. 173 outcomes of an 12 international multi-centered registry on eus-guided gallbladder drainage in patients that are unfit for cholecystectomy. Gastrointest Endosc 2018; 87: AB62 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2018.04.045]
- Mori Y, Itoi T, Baron TH, Takada T, Strasberg SM, Pitt HA, Ukai T, Shikata S, Noguchi Y, Teoh AYB, Kim MH, Asbun HJ, Endo I, Yokoe 13 M, Miura F, Okamoto K, Suzuki K, Umezawa A, Iwashita Y, Hibi T, Wakabayashi G, Han HS, Yoon YS, Choi IS, Hwang TL, Chen MF, Garden OJ, Singh H, Liau KH, Huang WS, Gouma DJ, Belli G, Dervenis C, de Santibañes E, Giménez ME, Windsor JA, Lau WY, Cherqui D, Jagannath P, Supe AN, Liu KH, Su CH, Deziel DJ, Chen XP, Fan ST, Ker CG, Jonas E, Padbury R, Mukai S, Honda G, Sugioka A, Asai K, Higuchi R, Wada K, Yoshida M, Mayumi T, Hirata K, Sumiyama Y, Inui K, Yamamoto M. Tokyo Guidelines 2018: management strategies for gallbladder drainage in patients with acute cholecystitis (with videos). J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Sci 2018; 25: 87-95 [PMID: 28888080 DOI: 10.1002/jhbp.504]
- Binmoeller KF, Shah J. A novel lumen-apposing stent for transluminal drainage of nonadherent extraintestinal fluid collections. Endoscopy 14

2011; 43: 337-342 [PMID: 21264800 DOI: 10.1055/s-0030-1256127]

- Loozen CS, van Santvoort HC, van Duijvendijk P, Besselink MG, Gouma DJ, Nieuwenhuijzen GA, Kelder JC, Donkervoort SC, van Geloven 15 AA, Kruyt PM, Roos D, Kortram K, Kornmann VN, Pronk A, van der Peet DL, Crolla RM, van Ramshorst B, Bollen TL, Boerma D. Laparoscopic cholecystectomy versus percutaneous catheter drainage for acute cholecystitis in high risk patients (CHOCOLATE): multicentre randomised clinical trial. BMJ 2018; 363: k3965 [PMID: 30297544 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.k3965]
- Tyberg A, Saumoy M, Sequeiros EV, Giovannini M, Artifon E, Teoh A, Nieto J, Desai AP, Kumta NA, Gaidhane M, Sharaiha RZ, Kahaleh 16 M. EUS-guided Versus Percutaneous Gallbladder Drainage: Isn't It Time to Convert? J Clin Gastroenterol 2018; 52: 79-84 [PMID: 28009687 DOI: 10.1097/MCG.00000000000786]
- Luk SW, Irani S, Krishnamoorthi R, Wong Lau JY, Wai Ng EK, Teoh AY. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided gallbladder drainage versus 17 percutaneous cholecystostomy for high risk surgical patients with acute cholecystitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 722-732 [PMID: 31238375 DOI: 10.1055/a-0929-6603]
- 18 Choi JH, Lee SS, Choi JH, Park DH, Seo DW, Lee SK, Kim MH. Long-term outcomes after endoscopic ultrasonography-guided gallbladder drainage for acute cholecystitis. Endoscopy 2014; 46: 656-661 [PMID: 24977397 DOI: 10.1055/s-0034-1365720]
- 19 Anderloni A, Buda A, Vieceli F, Khashab MA, Hassan C, Repici A. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural stenting for gallbladder drainage in high-risk patients with acute cholecystitis: a systematic review and pooled analysis. Surg Endosc 2016; 30: 5200-5208 [PMID: 27059975 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-016-4894-x]
- 20 Jang JW, Lee SS, Park DH, Seo DW, Lee SK, Kim MH. Feasibility and safety of EUS-guided transgastric/transduodenal gallbladder drainage with single-step placement of a modified covered self-expandable metal stent in patients unsuitable for cholecystectomy. Gastrointest Endosc 2011; 74: 176-181 [PMID: 21704816 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2011.03.1120]
- Saumoy M, Tyberg A, Brown E, Eachempati SR, Lieberman M, Kunda R, Cosgrove N, Shah A, Siddiqui A, Gaidhane M, Sharaiha RZ, 21 Kahaleh M. Cholecystectomy after endoscopic ultrasound guided gallbladder drainage? Gastrointest Endosc 2017; 85: AB481-AB482 [DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2017.03.1111
- Jang JW, Lee SS, Song TJ, Hyun YS, Park DY, Seo DW, Lee SK, Kim MH, Yun SC. Endoscopic ultrasound-guided transmural and 22 percutaneous transhepatic gallbladder drainage are comparable for acute cholecystitis. Gastroenterology 2012; 142: 805-811 [PMID: 22245666 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.12.051]

Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

